

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# Special Education Challenges in Transitioning to Online Learning in Wyoming During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Elizabeth Merritt Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Elizabeth Merritt

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Antoinette Myers, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Mary Lou Morton, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Cleveland Hayes, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

### Abstract

Special Education Challenges in Transitioning to Online Learning in Wyoming During

the COVID-19 Pandemic

by

Elizabeth Merritt

MA, Walden University, 2006

BS, University of Wyoming, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

August 2022

#### Abstract

When the COVID-19 pandemic occurred, education had unexpected impacts, including the closure of schools and the disruption of learning for students. Students with disabilities experienced increased challenges related to these impacts. The problem was to understand the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from inclassroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to examine the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities and identify future supports for this kind of transition to online learning. The conceptual framework for this research was the Schlossberg transition model and the variables of changing from one life event to another. The guiding research question pertained to challenges special education teachers and parents experienced during their transition to online learning. The basic qualitative research design examined the lived experiences of four teachers and two parents through an interview and a questionnaire. The data were analyzed for emerging ideas and patterns to code, compile, and develop into themes and subthemes. The analyzed results indicated that not all learning software was appropriate as planned to support special education student learning. Another finding was that constant communication between teachers and students had positive results. The implications for positive social change may be improved practices for possible transitions from future in-classroom to online learning to enhance student achievement.

## Special Education Challenges in Transitioning to Online Learning in Wyoming During

the COVID-19 Pandemic

by

Elizabeth Merritt

MA, Walden University, 2006

BA, University of Wyoming, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

August 2022

#### Dedication

To my husband, my heart, my home, my dream come true; I love you so much! Joe Grandpre, here is to another 30 years. "I'm bigger" to my son, Alex, my daughter-inlaw, Brittany, and my grandson, Eli; it is in writing forever! Kelly Bembry-Hennings, Lonell Hennings, Carol, and Steve Miller, thank you for your love, laughs, and tears over time. Thank you doesn't seem enough.

Thank you for everything; your help made this possible for my angel, Michelle Shay.

To my Mom and Dad. My dad did not get to see me earn this here, but he has been with me every step of the way since he had to leave.

#### Acknowledgments

I want to take this moment to acknowledge my Chair, Dr. Antoinette Myers; you supported and guided me, gave solid advice, and gave the kick when needed. I would not be here without you. Thank you for your feedback and guidance, Dr. Mary Lou Morton and Dr. Cleveland Hayes, in completing this study.

Special thanks go to friends Corey, Shawna, Dennis, and Michael James', Travis Burns, and Will Barnes for all your help. To RaeAnn Merry and Joy Fawcett my cheerleaders who kept me going. I want to acknowledge other family, friends, association members, and school district members who have supported me through this process to become a better version of me; I want to thank you for every day you have been part of my life.

List of Tables	v
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	9
Research Questions	10
Conceptual Framework of the Study	11
Nature of the Study	13
Definitions	14
Assumptions	16
Scope and Delimitations	16
Limitations	17
Significance of the Study	18
Summary	19
Chapter 2: Literature Review	21
Literature Search Strategy	22
Conceptual Framework	23
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts	25
Education in Rural Areas During the COVID-19 Pandemic	
Living and Teaching in Wyoming	
Transition to Online Learning During the COVID-19 Pandemic	

# Table of Contents

Perceptions of Learning Transition During the COVID-19 Pandemic	32
Transitions for Students with Disabilities During the COVID-19 Pandemic	34
Individual Education Plan and Individual Learning Plan During the	
COVID-19 Pandemic	37
Summary and Conclusion	40
Chapter 3: Research Method	42
Research Design and Rationale	42
Concept and Phenomenon of the Study	46
Research Tradition	47
Justification of Research Design	48
Characteristics of Qualitative Research	52
Role of the Researcher	53
Methodology	54
Population	56
Justification of Sampling Strategy	56
Criteria for Selecting Participants	57
Instrumentation	58
Data Collection Instruments and Source	58
Interview Protocol	59
Questionnaire Protocol	59
Sufficiency of Data Collection Instruments	50
Published Data Collection Instruments	50

Researcher-Developed Instruments	61
Instrument Development (Pilot Study)	62
Establishment of Content Validity	63
Sufficiency of Data Collection Instruments	64
Procedures For Pilot Studies	64
Content Validity and Data Collection Devices	65
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	66
Data Analysis Plan	69
Issues of Trustworthiness	71
Ethical Procedures	72
Summary	75
Chapter 4: Results	77
Pilot Study	77
Setting 78	
Demographics	79
Data Collection	80
Participants	80
Variations in Data Collection	81
Data Analysis	82
Findings	84
Theme 1: Dissatisfaction with Closing Procedures	87
Theme 2: Lack of Strategic Accessible Communication	88

Theme 3: To Canvas or Not To Canvas
Theme 4: The Challenges and/or the Lack of Support
Theme 5: Positive Connections, Engagement, and Recognition
Discrepant Cases
Evidence of Trustworthiness94
Summary95
Finding 1 96
Finding 2
Finding 3
Connection of Findings to Conceptual Framework
Conclusion
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations103
Interpretation of the findings103
Limitations of the Study110
Recommendations110
Implications112
Positive Social Change113
Conceptual Implications113
Conclusion114
References115
Appendix A: Teacher Interview Protocol Form149
Appendix B: Parent or Guardian Interview Protocol Form

# List of Tables

Table 1	5
Special Education Students in Wyoming, 2020*	5
Table 2	6
Number of Full-Time Direct Services Employee Positions in Wyoming	6
Table 3	79
Participants	79
Table 4	86
Themes and Theme Statements	86

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

For the first time since the flu pandemic of 1918, often called the "Spanish Flu," the United States of America closed kindergarten through 12<sup>th</sup> grade (K-12) schools due to a pandemic known as the Coronavirus or COVID-19 (Akin & Gözel, 2020; Maher, 2020; PBS News Hour & Wyoming PBS, 2020). The virus is airborne and passed from person to person through those exhaling airborne particles (CDC, 2021; Maher, 2020). When I started writing this paper, the numbers of those impacted by COVID-19 were over 31,666,000, with deaths of over 566,000 (CDC, 2020). The country's shutdown brought about concerns about teaching and the continued educational needs of students with disabilities in the public school system.

In March of 2020, Wyoming Governor Mark Gordon ordered the closing of all public gathering spaces, including schools within the State of Wyoming, to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 (Star-Tribune Staff, 2020). The first closures were the K-12 schools that would return to the classroom starting in March but extended to the end of the 2019-20 school year (CDC, 2020; Wyoming Department of Education, 2020b). During the first weeks of school closures, teachers worked to get either paper or electronic instruction materials ready and out to students to continue learning in the Wyoming communities. One group with different struggles during the transition was special education teachers and families supporting these students with disabilities. There were concerns about meeting the needs of students with disabilities while being cognizant of accessibility (Wyoming Special Education Programs Division, 2020a). With this study, I sought to understand better how pandemic-related changes to education impacted special education teachers and the families they serve. Chapter 1 covers the background, problem statement, the purpose of the study, research question, conceptual framework, nature of the study, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitation, limitation, significance, and summary.

#### Background

Students with disabilities have individual educational plans (IEP) or individual learning plans (ILP) to outline learning at school. With these plans, different interventions are identified for the IEP or ILP, requiring assistive technology tools unique to a student's disability to target learning skills. It was assumed that most people had electronic devices for learning at home, but that was not the case due to costs or availability (Alhumaid et al., 2020). During the closure of schools because of the COVID-19 pandemic, educators within districts contacted the families of students with disabilities to determine home circumstances, the technology available, or family structure to assist the students working from home during quarantine to meet IEPs or ILPs minutes or interventions. Additionally, the families of students with disabilities inquired about how to provide these online services when their child had multiple educators providing specific interventions at school (Preston, 2020).

Over the years, technology has evolved and can support classroom learning, but some technology is not applied (Akay, 2020; Al Lily et al., 2020; Asim et al., 2020). Even with technology training provided to educators, integrating technology into the classroom was challenging to have students use or embrace it for learning. Teachers needed to make practical, intentional use of technology for all students, especially students with disabilities (Akay, 2020; Al Lily et al., 2020; Asim et al., 2020). The school closures forced a transition to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic and highlighted the challenges. In studies found during this time, researchers identified the costs of the internet and computers, electricity reliability of the internet, and technology for students with disabilities when they transitioned to online learning (Al Lily et al., 2020; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Mohacsi, 2019; Petretto et al., 2020). The studies did not explore the challenges for special education teachers or parents.

Students who qualify for special education have IEPs or ILPs that consist of specific goals that focus on student performance (U.S. Department of Education, 2019). Few studies focused on the IEP interventions for online learning for students with disabilities (Gupta et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020; Webber-Ritchey et al., 2021). A few researchers examined students with disabilities and their consistent routine of inclassroom schedules during the transition to online learning (Alhumaid et al., 2020; Prior, 2020). The research did not address the needs of students who required occupational, physical, and specialized speech therapy which is just a part of the services provided for special education students (Akay, 2020; Al Lily et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020). During the closures, it was these individualized needs for students with disabilities that became the challenge when transitioning for teachers and parents from in-classroom to online learning and meeting these specialized services (Akay, 2020; Al Lily et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Crouse et al., 2018; Lambert & Dryer, 2018; Petretto et al., 2020). The transition from in-classroom to online learning for special

education teachers and parents was needed to learn what worked for both providers of services for special education students.

#### **Problem Statement**

The problem addressed in this study was the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming. Little was known about secondary teachers' and parents' experiences in Wyoming and the challenges of the quick transition to teaching students with disabilities in an online learning environment (see Table 1). In an essay by Koerner (2020), the relationship between the learner and the teacher is the center of successful teaching at any level of education (see Palmer, 2007). The relationship may be challenging to create and maintain with the sudden transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities. Kaden (2020) presented a case study that focused on a teacher with 32 students in a rural Alaska community. The shift from in-classroom to online during the COVID-19 pandemic was a forced challenge for teachers from traditional teaching models to online facilitators. Per Kaden's study, the forced move may have been a "catalyst to create a new, more effective hybrid" way of student learning (Kaden, 2020). Guidance from the State of Wyoming to school districts after the COVID-19 pandemic closing was the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) remained in full effect. Special education staff contacted families about "technology, computers, iPads, or equipment" (JP Denning, personal communication, March 23, 2020). The table provides the number of students enrolled in schools with disabilities.

#### Table 1

Levels	Pre- Kindergarten	Elementary Kindergarten - 5th	Middle School $6^{\text{th}} - 8^{\text{th}}$	High School $9^{th} - 12^{th}$	Other District Programs
	050	Timeorgarten Sti	0 0	, 12	Tiograms
Age 3	950				
Age 4	1266				
Age 5		899			
Age 6		1137			
Age 7		1170			
Age 8		1125			
Age 9		1070			
Age 10		1156			
Age 11			1122		
Age 12			1034		
Age 13			936		
Age 14				941	
Age 15				897	
Age 16				813	
Age 17				668	
Age 18				343	
Age 19 - 21					148
Totals	2216	6557	3092	3662	148
PreK - 12	70	520	330	300	Contracted
Teachers in Wyoming**					

Special Education Students in Wyoming, 2020\*

Note. \*From "IDEA Section 618 Data Products: State-Level Data Files." (2021,

February 2). [Datasets - Child Count and Educational Environments]. IDEA Section 618

Data Products: State-Level Data Files; US Department of Education (ED).

(https://www2.ed.gov/programs/osepidea/618-data/state-level-data-files/index.html)

\*\*From "U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics." (2020, May). Occupational Employment and

Wage Statistics [Occupational Employment and Wage Statistics]. Occupational

Employment and Wage Statistics Query System.

(https://data.bls.gov/oes/#/geoOcc/Multiple%20occupations%20for%20one%20geograph

ical%20area)

Table 1 provides information collected from the state-level data files. It identifies the settings students received their education during the year and information on the number of teachers employed during the COVID-19 pandemic and the grade levels taught (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2020). Table 2 identifies the other specialty persons responsible for working with special education students and their job specialties that had to be transitioned online. The number of these professionals was smaller in these specialized areas. They had challenges adjusting to a significant number of students.

#### Table 2

Student Enrollment	1-500	501-1500	1501-3000	3001-8000	8001-14100
Nurse	Time charged as needed				
Interpreter	1 to 1 ratio as needed				
Social Workers/ Counselors	0.5 - 0.9	1.0 - 2.9	3 – 4.9	5.0-8.9	9.0 - 15
Speech Pathologists	Contracted	1.3 – 2.9	3 – 4.9	5.0 - 12.9	13.0 - 18
Additional Therapists (Occupational, physical, visual, audiology)	Contracted	0.7 – 1.5	1.6 - 2.9	3.0 - 8.8	8.9 – 15.6
Case Managers		0.4 - 0.9	1.0 - 2.4	2.5 - 6.0	6.1 – 8.9
Assistive Technology Specialists	Contracted	0.5	0.5 - 0.9	1.0	1.0
School Psychologists Behavioral Specialists	Contracted				
Transition/Job/ Community Living Coordinators	Contracted				

Number of Full-Time Direct Services Employee Positions in Wyoming

Transition/Job/	As Required	As Required	Up to 3.9	4.0 - 7.9	8.0
Community Living	by IEP	by IEP			
Paraprofessionals					

*Note*. Data used in the table were from the "Wyoming Department of Education." (2021). *Special Education Programs*. Wyoming Department of Education.

#### (https://edu.wyoming.gov/for-district-leadership/special-programs/)

The district adopted a learning plan and posted it on the district website during the pandemic. The state special services offices said all specially designed instruction and related services would continue with no other direction (Wyoming Department of Education, 2020a). However, the implementation lacked teacher confidence which was not supported by technology in the classroom (OECD Education & Skills Today, 2020). Educators in the public schools seemed unprepared to transition to online and continue individualized instruction for students with disabilities, even with selected technology items available for some time (Asim et al., 2020; Hill, 2020). Educators had access to training for many types of technology in the classroom but missed the teaching component.

Other educators had concerns about students with disabilities and families not learning to use technology (Cagiltay et al., 2019). The challenges existed in meeting individual student IEPs or ILPs using online learning and the ability to adjust teaching for the students (Terada, 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020). The lack of contingency plans to deal with the forced educational challenges of moving from in-classroom to online learning during pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic or natural disasters necessitates further research. More research is essential on transition challenges other than costs associated with the internet and computer availability (Alea et al., 2020; Alhumaid et al., 2020; Lassoued et al., 2020). There are also recommendations for further studies on the issues of teachers not feeling prepared to teach students with disabilities online, the integration of technology in the classroom, and professional development choices provided by the school district to exhibit online learning skills (Al Lily et al., 2020; Anderson & Putman, 2020; Crouse et al., 2018). A few studies (e.g., Alea et al., 2020; Alhumaid et al., 2020; Das et al., 2020; Karademir et al., 2020; Lassoued et al., 2020) have examined the challenges of students and students with disabilities transitioning to online learning during the pandemic. However, these studies did not address the individualized needs of students with disabilities (Alhumaid et al., 2020; Kaden, 2020; Kinard & Mahaffey, 2020; Prior, 2020; Terada, 2020). The Schlossberg transition model (2011) conceptual framework explicitly focused on transitions in four stages, which was essential for future studies to understand the influence of intervention decisions (Crouse et al., 2018; Tremmel et al., 2020).

During the COVID-19 pandemic and school closures, schools slowed or stopped interventions for students with disabilities (Turner & Klein, 2021). Although researchers have investigated the transition to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic, the research has not examined meeting the individualized education or learning plans (Crouse et al., 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020). While previous studies have described internet access issues, computers, electrical power, and the cost of internet access, few studies have examined challenges for secondary special education teachers and parents to provide services (Minkos & Gelbar, 2020; Prior, 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020). Other researchers recommend learning about future teacher preparations and efforts with parents to integrate technology (Crouse et al., 2018; Meleo-Erwin et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020). Therefore, the defined synthesized gap for the proposed study was to identify secondary special education teachers' and parents' challenges in transitioning online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming. The specific gap for this research was the individualized needs of students with disabilities and the challenges of how teachers and parents supported the transition from in-classroom to online learning (Crouse et al., 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020).

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to examine the challenges of secondary special education teachers' and parents' during the transition from inclassroom to online learning for students with disabilities and identify future supports for this kind of transition to online learning. The COVID-19 pandemic closed schools in March of 2020, requiring educators to change from teaching in the classroom to online learning (Akin & Gözel, 2020; Maher, 2020; PBS News Hour & Wyoming PBS, 2020). However, it was evident that educators and supervisors did not feel adequately prepared for this transition, and special education students may have been left out (Eachempati & Ramnarayan, 2020; Hill, 2020; Petretto et al., 2020). School programs can strengthen students with disabilities' learning skills with better technology integration in the classroom for consistency. During the COVID-19 pandemic closure of schools, better integration for students with disabilities into an online learning environment would have minimized any issues impacting online learning had the groundwork been in place. In classroom routines, using technology in the school reduces the stress of change from inperson to online learning during pandemics and disasters. Intentional technology integration into the special education classroom could have provided students with a foundation for using technology. Intentional opportunities to work with families using technology would have provided home rudiments for students with disabilities (Al Lily et al., 2020; Gupta et al., 2020; Kinard & Mahaffey, 2020).

#### **Research Questions**

The research question in a study provides a course for the researcher to stay centered on the cause and effect. Clearly stated overarching questions can develop more specific questions during analysis (Kross & Giust, 2019; Study Higher, 2020). The guiding research question for this study was: What challenges were experienced to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities by secondary special education teachers and parents to support the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming? Additional questions that were conducive to this basic qualitative research included the following three subquestions:

Subquestion 1 (SQ1): How do teachers and parents in Wyoming describe the transition experience from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic?

Subquestion 2 (SQ2): What adjustments were made by special education teachers and parents in Wyoming with the instructional *supports* in place when the

transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic?

Subquestion 3 (SQ3): What changes or *supports* would help special education teachers and parents in Wyoming transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the future like a pandemic?

The qualitative study used the Schlossberg transition model's four areas identified: (a) *situation*, (b) *self*, (c) *supports*, and (d) *strategies* (Schlossberg et al., 1995). These four areas of the model helped identify and classify the experiences of secondary special education teachers and parents to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming. Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) theory guided the research, which used semistructured interviews with open-ended questions for the participant to expand answers that provided information in the four areas (Schlossberg, 2011; Workman, 2011).

#### **Conceptual Framework of the Study**

The concept that grounded the study was Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) model, which examined adults' adjustment to inevitable or not predictable changes. Using the Schlossberg transition model, the concept involved the forced moving forward from one life event to another: in this case, the force moving from an in-classroom to an online setting. An example was the COVID-19 pandemic transition, an unexpected or forced transition (Schlossberg, 1981). The COVID-19 pandemic directly influenced or forced the transition variables of learning online, technology availability, in-service training, or formal educational preparation. Those factors played a role in the student's online services in an academic setting. Schlossberg presented the "4 Ss," which identified transition process events and nonevents as follows:

- The first "S" is the *situation* at the time of the event; the COVID-19 pandemic caused schools' closure.
- The second "S" is the *self*, the person's inner coping, which is how special service teachers and parents dealt with the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic transition.
- The third "S" includes the *social support needed to transition for* well-being.
  Relating to pieces required to move to an online environment and the type of *support* the district had available for special service educators and the process.
- The last of the four "S" are *strategies* dealing with coping skills. Schlossberg (2011) identified three coping types: changing the *situation*, reframing the *situation*, and managing stress after the stressor has happened.

As an individual transitions from one status to another in their life (e.g., the process of obtaining and maintaining a job), the adaption process for an individual can vary depending on the person's access to resources and personal factors such as administrator supportiveness (Schlossberg et al., 1995). Other recent studies used Schlossberg's transition model to examine the effects of transitions during the COVID-19 pandemic. Examples such as Bradbury et al.'s (2020) research on Minnesota teachers' transition from in-person to online instruction, Adjei et al.'s (2021) research on higher education supports for student academics and cocurricular needs, Ning et al.'s (2021) research on collegiate experiences with transitions from in-person to the virtual environment, and finally Peixoto et al.'s (2020) research on how psychologists in the positions of human resources managers dealt with adaptive processes during this change. These studies supported Schlossberg's transition model for this research. The study focused on special education teachers' and parents' experiences changing from inclassroom to online learning and adapting to teaching for student success.

I conducted interviews with a minimum of four teachers and two parents of students with disabilities who transitioned to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. These participants completed the questionnaire selection process, providing demographics and contact information. It was possible to schedule interviews until saturation was met. I used open coding and thematic analysis to analyze the results. Focusing on secondary special education teachers and parents of students with disabilities who transitioned to online schooling, their perspectives were consistent with Schlossberg et al.'s model. Individuals' transitions were affected by internal and external factors such as family involvement and school resources and how these factors impacted that transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

#### Nature of the Study

The research question in this basic qualitative study incorporated the Schlossberg transition model using the COVID-19 pandemic and schools closing as the *situational* variable. The challenge participants had with transitioning from in-classroom to online learning was the *self* variable. The request from participants to the school district on implementing the individualized needs of students with disabilities relied on documents

from the United States Department of Education and state documents from the Wyoming Department of Education. The school district provided no actual guidelines that identified other variables of *support* and *strategies* (Laramie County School District 1, 2019; U.S. Department of Education, 2020; Wyoming Department of Education, 2019; Wyoming Special Education Programs Division, 2020b). The study aimed to produce real-world knowledge of the challenges for the participants during the transition to online learning. Participants solicited for the study were from within Wyoming. I was able to reach four teachers and two parents for semistructured interviews. I worked with my dissertation committee to ensure the questions aligned with the research, reviewed all feedback on interview protocols, and piloted the interview questions (see Castillo-Montoya, 2016). A reference entry for the research design was based on Schlossberg et al. (1995).

#### Definitions

The following definitions were significant in applying them to this special education research to provide a common understanding (Creswell & Creswell, 2020). The special education terms offered a general understanding of use in this research (Creswell & Creswell, 2020). The following terms provided will assist the reader in this paper,

*COVID-19:* COVID-19 is the coronavirus disease, a variant of the novel coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, identified towards the end of 2019 (Moderna U.S. Inc., 2021).

*Individual educational plan (IEP):* The IEP is a plan developed by a team of school professionals and student families working together on identified disabilities outlined by IDEA for behavior or learning goals (U.S. Department of Education, 2019).

*Individual learning plan (ILP):* The ILP is a document developed to identify learning goals for the student in reading, writing, or math (REL Regional Education Laboratory Program, 2020).

*Parent:* The parent will be defined using the IDEAs definition of "a biological or adoptive parent of a child (Sec. 300.30 (a)," n.d.)"; foster parent, unless law or regulations prohibit a foster parent from acting as a parent; guardian authorized to act as child's parent, or authorized to make educational decisions; a person acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent which the child lives (including a grandparent, stepparent, or other relatives), or "legally responsible for the child's welfare (Sec. 300.30 (a)," n.d.)"; a surrogate parent appointed by law according to § 300.519 or section 639(a)(5) of the Act (Sec. 300.30 (a)," n.d.).

*The situation variable:* The *situation* variable asks the question, "what is happening?" in this transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

*The self variable:* The *self* variable asks the question, "to whom is it happening?" referring to the transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

*The support variable:* The *supported* variable asks, "what help is available?" during the transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

*The strategies variable:* The *strategies* variable asks, "How does this person cope?" during the transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

#### Assumptions

In this basic qualitative study, I assumed that all respondents answered freely and honestly to their best. There were no attempts to control participants' responses or require their participation in the study. As the researcher, I interviewed multiple participants. I facilitated sharing personal experiences for identifying themes in the transition from inclassroom to online learning (see Creswell & Creswell, 2020). The assumptions for the study were opportunities to understand the participants' experiences during the transition from in-classroom to online and that they were forthcoming by protected confidentiality. I also assumed that all respondents had received some training with technology and how to utilize it to educate students with disabilities.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The delimitations levied upon this study were the Wyoming schools that granted permission to distribute the information and participants who provided information for an interview. The study did not include all private or all public schools in Wyoming. This study's results do not speak for all secondary special education teachers and parents. The study focused on the state of Wyoming, considered rural, and how special education teachers and parents experienced the COVID-19 pandemic transition. The study collected those experiences to understand the challenges the four special education teachers faced, and two parents took part in the study for Wyoming. The study only comprised secondary special education teachers who were teaching during the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic and the parents of students during that time. With the study being limited to participating schools in Wyoming, the results may not be generalized to schools throughout the United States. Respondents have different levels of knowledge and experiences with the participants' challenges in meeting the individualized needs of students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic transition from in-classroom to online learning affecting their responses to the questions (Creswell & Creswell, 2020; Goes & Simon, 2017). The interviews were open response questions that provided additional factors for further examination and consideration.

#### Limitations

As a qualitative study, it was a concern that the sample size may be small due to the inability to find and recruit participants. An adequate sample size was essential to reach saturation by repeating ideas or themes (see Goes & Simon, 2017). Qualitative research intends not to find cause and effect but to understand and ascribe meaning to an event or occurrence from the participant's point of view (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). The study examined the participants' perceptions of the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Furthermore, the target participants were secondary special education teachers and parents. Other pieces of the transition included shifting the student from school to adult life, starting at age 16. Different individualized interventions for students, not just school-related, were shared in the semistructured interviews. In gathering the data with the semistructured interviews, it was essential to focus on the school education and no other outside services. These items are suggested for further research.

Positive and negative professional relationships can interfere with data collection or people willing to participate in the research. According to leadership in education, I researched a timely topic, and colleagues asked if I needed help recruiting. Those I worked with could have been strongly encouraged to participate in this study, which could have caused resentment or other issues with the data collection process. Additional concerns were familiarity with those in the district. It was necessary to remember and follow the protocols to minimize those issues. I reminded participants that it was their choice to participate (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015).

An unusual bias dealing with choice and politics caused problems during the interview process, as some did not understand or agree with the school closures. There were heated conversations about masking, quarantining, and vaccines. During the interview, it was necessary to remind participants of the topic of the study and refer back to the topic questions to focus on the educational pieces of the research. There was a concern about personal bias and how that may interact with the study. I was aware and mindful of the purpose of the study as there were issues of differing opinions about off-topic comments that were unrelated to the study. When reviewing notes, I reflected on personal experiences to identify biases and checked participant meaning—not inferring personal bias from the participant experiences. I remained aware of the biases and objectively understood the participants' shared stories.

#### Significance of the Study

This study was significant because of the implications for positive social changeinitiated conversations with stakeholders to implement new instructional *strategies* to *support* transitions to online learning (Cagiltay et al., 2019). Furthermore, the study helped develop policy recommendations focusing on teachers and parents by identifying steps to transition from in-classroom to online for students with disabilities (Turner & Klein, 2021). Using the data collected and finding themes informed how students with disabilities and special education teachers and parents advocated during times of change (Kamenetz, 2020). The findings focused on the professional development needed to address specific challenges with specific intervention recommendations.

#### Summary

In Chapter 1, I presented the need to study the individualized requirements of students with disabilities and the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from in-classroom to online learning in Wyoming. Additional information on issues dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic transition to online learning for students with disabilities with information from other research cited provided a starting place for the research questions in this qualitative study. The Schlossberg transition model was the conceptual framework for the study. I discussed how the four areas of (a) situation, (b) self, c) social supports, and (d) strategies applied to this study. Assumptions and limitations were explored, and the scope and delimitations were presented. Common terms were presented to assist with reading for common understanding. Chapter 2 is current literature related to special education and the COVID-19 pandemic's impact on schooling. The following areas are the introduction, literature search strategy, conceptual framework, literature review related to key variables and/or concepts, living and teaching in Wyoming, transition to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic, perceptions of learning transition during the COVID-19 pandemic, transitions for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic, individual

education plans and individual learning plans during the COVID-19 pandemic, and summary and conclusion.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

Little was known about secondary teachers' and parents' experiences in Wyoming and the challenges of a quick transition to teaching students with disabilities in an online learning environment imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to examine the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities and identify future supports for this kind of transition to online learning. The basic qualitative problem prompted a literature search for research-based information on how special education teachers and parents transition IEPs and ILPs to online learning. The literature reviewed for this study includes information on education in rural areas during the COVID-19 pandemic, living and teaching in Wyoming, state constitutional guidelines, and special education funding models. In other studies, researchers discovered that the transition to online during the COVID-19 pandemic dealt with access to the internet, devices, and costs associated with technology. Researchers had also studied educational groups' perceptions of learning transitions during the COVID-19 pandemic concerns from teachers and parents about skills in using technology, family support, and student self-motivation with technology. The studies about transitions for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic provided researchers with pieces needed for learning. The researchers determined that good constant communication between schools and other community service providers was essential to the transition for the students. The area closely related to this research was the IEP or ILP and the COVID-19 pandemic; these documents identify the individualized needs of students during the year.

For example, researchers found equity challenges in the transition to online regarding the provision of reasonable accommodations without lost student progress (Al Lily et al., 2020; Gupta et al., 2020; Soudien, 2020). Chapter 2 includes the introduction, literature search strategy, and conceptual framework, literature review related to key variables and/or concepts are education in rural areas during the COVID-19 pandemic, living and teaching in Wyoming, transition to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic, perceptions of learning transition during the COVID-19 pandemic, transitions for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic, individual education plans and individual learning plans during the COVID-19 pandemic, education in rural areas during COVID-19, and summary and conclusion.

#### Literature Search Strategy

The keywords and databases searched in the literature review provided the framework for this basic qualitative research. The information was derived from concurrent online databases, peer-reviewed articles, bibliographies, research books, and journals. These gathered resources were from The Walden University Library, University of Wyoming Libraries, Academic Search Premier, EBSCO, Google Scholar, Sage Premier, and dissertations via ProQuest. I examined sources relative to strategic tools utilized to advocate for research about the challenges of teachers' and parents' transition to online learning. The keywords used in searching these databases were *students with disabilities, COVID-19, teacher perceptions, high school, preparedness, transition theory, services for students with disabilities, new demands on teachers, new demands on teachers in U.S., education, technology integration, Schlossberg transition model, special*  *education, individual learning plans, individual education plans, 504, Wyoming special education, parent perceptions, reasons for moving to Wyoming, Wyoming Constitution, Wyoming Statues,* and *professional teaching standards board.* The terms were investigated individually and together to establish a current and systematic procedure on the topics and COVID-19. I gleaned information from existing studies to build the research.

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The theories and/or concepts that ground this study included the Schlossberg transition model (Schlossberg et al., 1995), which examined adults' adjustment to inevitable or not predictable changes; this model was applicable because the COVID-19 pandemic transitions were unexpected or forced (Schlossberg, 1981). Using the Schlossberg transition model, the concept involves the forced moving forward from one life event to another: in this case, the force moving from an in-classroom to an online setting. The COVID-19 pandemic directly influenced or forced the transition variables of learning online, technology availability, in-service training, or formal educational preparation. Those factors play a role in the student's online services in an academic setting. Schlossberg presented the "4 Ss," which identify transition process events and nonevents as follows:

• The first "S" is the *situation* at the time of the event, the COVID-19 pandemic causing schools' closure.

- The second "S" is the *self*, the person's inner coping, which is how special service teachers and parents are dealing with the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic transition.
- The third "S" includes the *social support* needed to transition. The person's wellbeing relates to the pieces required to move to an online environment and the type of support the district has available for special service educators and the process.
- The last "S" is *strategies* dealing with coping skills. Schlossberg (2011) identifies three coping types: changing the *situation*, reframing the situation, and managing stress after the stressor has happened.

As an individual transitions from one status to another in their life (e.g., the process of obtaining and maintaining a job), the adaption process for an individual can vary depending on the person's access to resources and personal factors such as administrator supportiveness (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The theory guided the researcher in examining the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents unprepared for the transition to online learning when schools closed for the COVID-19 pandemic.

Other recent studies have used Schlossberg's transition model to examine the effects of transitions during the COVID-19 pandemic. Examples such as Bradbury et al.'s (2020) research on Minnesota teachers' transition from in-person to online instruction explained that educators found real value in the enhanced change to education. Adjei et al.'s (2021) research on higher education supports student academics and co-curricular needs identified using Schlossberg et al. (1995); students can adapt and adjust. Ning et
al.'s (2021) research on collegiate experiences with transitions from in-person to the virtual environment found declines in school events, social events, and socialization. Peixoto et al.'s (2020) research on how psychologists in the positions of human resources managers dealt with adaptive processes during this change. Peixoto et al. (2020) state that Schlossberg's variables were helpful for people in the corporate world and did notice that it depended on the support provided for those processing the varying events due to the COVID-19 pandemic. These studies support Schlossberg's Transition Theory in this research. The study focused on special education teachers and parents and their experiences changing from in-classroom to online learning and adapting to teaching for student success.

I conducted interviews with a minimum of four teachers and two parents of students with disabilities who transitioned to online learning and continued interviewing participants if needed until saturation was met. I used open coding and thematic analysis to analyze the results. Focusing on secondary special education teachers and parents of students with disabilities transitioning to online insertion perspectives was consistent with Schlossberg et al.'s theory. It was about the individual's transition affected by internal and external factors such as family involvement and school resources and how that impacted the transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

#### Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts.

# **Education in Rural Areas During the COVID-19 Pandemic**

In examining literature about COVID-19 and the transition from in-classroom to online learning for special education, most early studies were outside the United States.

Dube's (2020) study examined the effects of COVID-19 on rural learners in South Africa. In Alea et al.'s (2020) research about educators in the Philippines adjusting to distance learning, teachers were ready to continue school. Still, there were problems for those offering distance learning. As school closures were happening, Belay's (2020) study in Ethiopia focused on how the pandemic impacted both rich and poor students and those living in rural and urban areas.

At the start of this research, studies worldwide focused on transitioning from inclassroom to online learning during the pandemic. In these similar studies, there were concerns about unexpected changes from in-classroom to online learning. The problems focused on communication with students and stable internet for distance learning. There were challenges with the types of technology used for learning: tablets, phones, laptops, or anything else that could connect to the internet (Aguliera & Nightengale-Lee, 2020; Belay, 2020; Whalley & Barbour, 2020). The teachers in the studies also felt there were problems were using social media, emails, or other forms of communication for distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. The connection between these rural areas in different countries and Wyoming seemed natural. Wyoming has low population numbers and vast open spaces where online learning would be an issue with the same challenges.

#### Living and Teaching in Wyoming

Wyoming is the 44<sup>th</sup> state of the union and has many unique features, from the plains on the east side to the Teton mountains on the west side. The state is the least populated, with only two major cities identified as metropolitan. Casper is mainly known for the highest-paid industries like mining, quarrying, and gas and oil extraction.

Cheyenne became the capital due to the Union Pacific Railroad and cattle, leaving the rest of the state with 173 small towns with populations from 32,857 (Gillette and Laramie) to 0 (Buford). Even with the small population of the whole state, people come to Wyoming to experience four seasons. There are outdoor activities and wide-open spaces, thinking that small populations provide more opportunities for their children in school (Barroga, 2020; Gaille, 2019). Families or individuals often move to Wyoming because of the educational system. The advantages of public schools have a higher rate of per-pupil funding per the Wyoming constitution than neighboring states (Exhange, 2018; *Wyoming Const. Article 7 § 1-2*, 1924 (*P. 37*)).

In Wyoming statutes, Title 21 is the breakdown of how the education system will work in the state (W.S. 21, n.d.). Those interested in teaching or moving a family to Wyoming check out the schools, the type of schooling available for children, and the extracurricular activities in a rural state. People interested in teaching special education have seen Wyoming as a leader in funding for special education at 100% reimbursement. The reimbursement to the local district is from the state government (Blauser, 2021; W.S. 21-13-309(m)(v)(E)(II) n.d.). During the COVID-19 pandemic, Wyoming schools saw an influx of students with disabilities. Parents' felt the move to a smaller school with smaller class sizes would provide better interventions than their current schools (Kudelska, 2021).

As much of Wyoming is rural with two metropolitan cities, it is not easy to find people to teach in some areas, and now it is difficult with the new demands of the COVID-19 pandemic. In Wyoming, becoming a teacher requires the prospective person to have a teaching degree or certification from a teaching program, an accredited college or university, or a national equivalent. The person then submits their transcripts to the Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board (PTSB) for a license to teach in Wyoming (Wyoming Professional Standards Board, 2018b). For special education, either a master's degree or an endorsement is required again from an accredited college or university, or a national equivalent recognized by PTSB for these areas: a generalist, behavioral and emotional disabilities, cognitive disabilities, deaf and hard of hearing, learning disability, physical and health disability, or visual disability (Special Education Guide, 2021; Wyoming Professional Standards Board, 2018a, 2018c). In Wyoming, there is an exception authorization when a teaching position can not be filled with a certificated person. The exception is for one year and can be used for three years while the person works on completing certification in that field (Special Education Guide, 2021; Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board, 2018d).

There are many responsibilities in the day-to-day work of a teacher—the duties ensure student safety and learning. The COVID-19 pandemic changed the traditional way of teaching from the in-classroom style to an online style that had not been the focus (Caroline, 2017; Nasr, 2020). For example, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused a change in how teachers and students interact during lectures and introduce new material to develop student learning (Kaden, 2020). According to Kaden (2020), the COVID-19 pandemic has changed many teachers' professional lives. Kaden's (2020) research was a case study of a male secondary teacher's instructional practices and workload in rural Alaska using qualitative and quantitative data. Kaden (2020) identified how the forced move to online learning was a catalyst for future students' new teaching methods. Kaden (2020) wanted to learn about teacher experiences during the emergency online instructional move on changes to workload, providing equitable instruction for students, and successful delivery of materials. Kaden's (2020) study suggested further research on elementary or older students and how to support equitable learning outcomes for all. As a case study Kaden (2020) focused on one person and how the COVID-19 pandemic impacted the experience of a teacher and their students.

## **Transition to Online Learning During the COVID-19 Pandemic**

The United States has not had to deal with a pandemic since the 1918 flu, and COVID-19 has presented new continuing education issues (Akin & Gözel, 2020; Maher, 2020). The transition to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic produced a unique condition. Schools were closed to slow or stop the spread of the virus (Akin & Gözel, 2020; CDC, 2021; Maher, 2020). Since the 1918 flu, education has changed very little. The technology available in the classroom should encourage a transition to online learning that applies the Schlossberg transition model of a forced moved *situation* variable (Maher, 2020). Researchers worldwide studied the transition to online and found similarities in their studies, student's access to the internet, access to devices, and the cost of the internet (Alea et al., 2020; Dube, 2020; Giovannella et al., 2020).

Alea et al.'s (2020) research in the Philippines explored educators' understanding of the COVID-19 pandemic and their school's readiness for distance learning. The questionnaire was researcher-made, broken into four parts, and reviewed by distant learning education experts and health experts to ensure the questions were valid and correct. The data was collected using Google forms for awareness of the COVID-19 pandemic and difficulties shifting from in-classroom to online learning (Alea et al., 2020). The four areas in Alea et al.'s (2020) research questionnaire focused on; (a) first was demographic information, (b) teachers' awareness of the COVID-19 pandemic, (c) how prepared were the teachers and schools for this transition to online learning, and (d) challenges of distance learning. The challenges were similar to other studies worldwide and in the United States (Aguilar, 2020; Asare et al., n.d.; Hodges et al., 2020; Kim & Asbury, 2020; Lemay et al., 2021).

Dube's (2020) qualitative study examined South Africa's effect using critical emancipatory research (CER). The theoretical work was to have everyone as part of the life-changing experiences like Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *situation* variable. Dube's study focused on two questions "what are the learning challenges faced by rural learners in South Africa" and "how can online learning be enhanced in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic" (Dube, 2020). Dube's (2020) research question focuses on rural areas. By comparison, Wyoming is a large state with great distances. Services may be challenging to provide for a student's IEP or ILP (Census History Staff U.S. Census Bureau, 2019; U.S. Census Bureau, 2019). Ferri et al.'s (2020) qualitative research concerns technology, pedagogy, and social challenges and how those occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic transition to online learning. The themes are not unique and are similar to other research (Al Lily et al., 2020; Burrows et al., 2020; Kilty et al., 2021; Kinard & Mahaffey, 2020).

Kim and Asbury (2020) researched the closing of schools in England during the COVID-19 pandemic and teachers' experiences during the first five to six weeks of the

closures. One of their themes was the uncertainty of how the transition from in-classroom to online would work (Das et al., 2020; Lemay et al., 2021; Nasr, 2020; Van Nuland et al., 2020). In college, the traditional teaching models are for in-classroom settings. The new task for educators was redesigning lessons created for in-classroom learning, the *self*-variable (Schlossberg et al., 1995). Finally, Kinard and Mahaffey (2020) did a mixed-methods study with 439 k-12 participants in 42 states, answering questions about their readiness to transition to online learning at the start of the COVID19 pandemic. Many participants thought they were left to learn for themselves and had a trial-and-error period with different technology tools (Barnes et al., 2020; Kilty et al., 2021; Nasr, 2020; Van Nuland et al., 2020).

Kinard and Mahaffey (2020) had comments from participants about the lack of notice, training, or adjustments for all involved in the transition to online learning. Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *support variable* was the data voiced by the participants in the research gathered (Burrows et al., 2020; Das et al., 2020; Justis et al., 2020). Using the *support variable* from Schlossberg et al. (1995), it was essential to learn how or if *supports* were available for people during the transition and how they looked. Justis et al.'s (2020) research examined how the private school assisted educators in a positive transition culture and *support* when challenges occurred.

Van Nuland et al.'s (2020) research found issues affecting educators in online *support*, professional development for online learning, and the transitioning materials needed for the online learning experience. These studies focused on the transition to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic closing of schools. The studies identified

general challenges of transition to online learning. They did not provide information on meeting the specific individualized needs of students with disabilities. Using the transition variables of Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) theory, the data examined contributed to creating a framework for unexpected events forcing a move from in-classroom to online learning.

#### **Perceptions of Learning Transition During the COVID-19 Pandemic**

Both educators and families had concerns about transitioning students with disabilities to online learning. A parent shared concern about the move for her daughter and the impact on learning as the child works with 12 different teachers in a week due to her educational and physical needs (NBC News, n.d.; Preston, 2020). In some states, educators sent home worksheet packets to ensure that all students' schoolwork was available. Still, many parents across the country needed help (Garland, 2020). The factors connected to Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) research were the *situation* variable of the COVID-19 pandemic and the challenges of transitioning to online learning.

The COVID-19 pandemic presented challenges to educators and families working together while schools closed (UNESCO, 2020). In applying Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) research, the *self* variable identified the difficulties in meeting the requirements of a child's IEP or ILP (J. R. Anderson et al., 2020; Baber, 2020; Carpenter & Dunn, 2021; Wang, 2020). Another issue was that before the schools closed because of the COVID-19 pandemic, parents were not actively seeking or engaging in daily information about their child's schoolwork (Adams & Todd, 2020; Wang, 2020). In a study by Ezra et al. (2021), parents juggled work and helping their children caused priority issues. The

communication between educators and families postulated the parents' positive or negative feelings about their child's transition to online learning (Ameis et al., 2020; Justis et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020).

A lack of preparation and professional development made some educators feel unprepared for the COVID-19 pandemic transition (Crouse et al., 2018). Educators felt the support from administrative, state, and federal levels outlining expectations helped transition students with disabilities. Educators in different areas also felt the workload and organizational time had increased when working with students online (Giovannella et al., 2020; Kaden, 2020). A few researchers presented information about the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic transition (Justis et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020). The above information offers several *support* variables for Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) theory.

While there seems to be little information about the change from in-classroom to online learning, several studies outlined coping methods to help transition during the COVID-19 pandemic providing *strategy* variables (Schlossberg et al.,1995). In Tremmel et al.'s (2020) research, a school district provided students with disabilities materials, equipment, and access to other resources to support progress on IEP outcomes. Administration and educators had contact logs to document any immediate follow-up dilemmas or advantages for future reference (Justis et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020). The research produced provides a framework to consider when examining the experiences of secondary special education teachers and parents to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming.

#### **Transitions for Students with Disabilities During the COVID-19 Pandemic**

During the COVID-19 pandemic, there were many changes globally and in the United States. Each state handled the changes set forth using new rules to slow the spreading of the COVID-19 pandemic. In Wyoming, the governor closed the state following all federal and Center for Disease Control guidelines (Akin & Gözel, 2020; Maher, 2020; PBS News Hour & Wyoming PBS, 2020; Star-Tribune Staff, 2020; State of Wyoming, 2020). Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) situation variable, the "what is happening," was answered with the COVID-19 pandemic and school closures. In the haste to transition and provide equal educational opportunities, educators prepared the required materials in different formats (S. E. Anderson & Putman, 2020; Battistin et al., 2021; Mellard et al., 2020). In Wyoming, schooling continued with a two-week shift from inclassroom to online learning. Educators must follow the federal laws for students with disabilities, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), by providing services (Americans with Disabilities Act, 1990; IDEA (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act), 2019; Jameson et al., 2019).

Tremmel et al. (2020) wrote about a school district in Texas and the lessons they learned during the COVID-19 pandemic and how they continued to serve students with disabilities. The study was a rural school district with about 1600 students and 210 staff (Tremmel et al., 2020). Therefore, the experiences that Tremmel et al. (2020) shared could parallel experiences in Wyoming areas. Following Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) next factor of the *self*-variable or "to whom is it happening?" The *self* is the secondary special education teachers and parents of students with disabilities in rural areas identified in Tremmel et al.'s (2020) research. Tremmel et al.'s (2020) themes were constant about the continual communication between staff, students, parents, and community organizations for special education students. Part of the communication with students and families is the paper packets created as some do not have or want to deal with technology. The school's responsibility was to ensure they provided multiple access types for instruction (Jameson et al., 2019; Lovitz et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020).

Educators were concerned with meeting the needs of students with disabilities due to IEP or ILP. The IEP or ILP interventions focus on learning and behaviors during traditional school days (Al-Ataby, 2020; Jeste et al., 2020; Kilty et al., 2021; Lemay et al., 2021). Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *support* variable "what help is available?" depended on the person and their specific needs. Das et al. (2020) learned that there were still issues with internet connections, tools to use, and socioeconomic issues with the shift to remote learning.

Lassoued et al.'s (2020) research found challenges hindering participants' online learning: either self-imposed obstacles or lack of motivation, causing barriers for students. Petretto et al.'s (2020) study brought attention to inequitable access to learning in three areas: availability of devices and internet connections, family use at home, and reasonable accommodation from specialized teachers. A student's learning depends on the family's use of technology and the available time allocated. Students with disabilities need extra help and structure during learning with specialized interventions. Petretto et al.'s (2020) opinion that Universal Design for Learning (UDL) may provide an online framework for students with disabilities. Petretto et al. continue to discuss how schools can help determine what services are delivered to students with disabilities and their families. In Jeste et al.'s (2020) research, communication between schools and families was essential when identified skills or behaviors require work, as did Tremmel et al. (2020) in answering Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *support* variable.

Battistin et al.'s (2021) research followed the Robert Hollman Foundation (RHF) from Holland, which educates blind and visually impaired students. The school did not want a break in interventions for these students during the COVID-19 pandemic. The Robert Hollman Foundation developed a program, the Distance Support Project, so that interventions could continue during the closing of schools (Battistin et al., 2021). Parents involved in this project felt it was successful and supportive for students. However, those providing interventions in this project were unsure, causing a substantial impact on how to rethink their interactions (J. R. Anderson et al., 2020; Battistin et al., 2021; Bradbury et al., 2020; Carpenter & Dunn, 2021). Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *strategies* variable, "how does this person cope?" raised more concerns.

Gupta et al. (2020) wrote a letter from neurologists voicing their concerns about the COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on students with disabilities and their families. The neurologist's concerns focused on the restricted access to health care and reduced rehabilitation with school interruptions. Following Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *strategies* variable, the "how does this person cope?" question was answered. During the COVID-19 pandemic closing of a school described how teachers worked with the families of students with disabilities. The concern was the effects on children with disabilities, which created problems for the special education teachers and parents of students with disabilities and their perceptions of online support learning (Gupta et al., 2020).

# Individual Education Plan and Individual Learning Plan During the COVID-19 Pandemic

In the United States, schooling provided a way for people to learn to read the bible, the virtues of family, and community standards. Education became a status symbol for male students (Chen, 2021; Lisa, 2020; Wright, 2019). Over time, education has progressed from religious to secular education today (Chen, 2021). A groundbreaking moment for people with disabilities was the Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka in 1954, dealing with racial segregation (History.com Editors, 2021). The civil rights movement helped confirm that "separate but equal" was not equal (The Supreme Court of the United States, 1954).

In 1966 an amendment to the Elementary and Secondary Education Act used federal funds for students with disabilities (Elementary and Secondary Education Act, 1966). In 1975 the Education for All Handicapped Children Act was signed into law. Over time the amendments were rewritten and drafted into the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act), 2019). In 1982 a court ruled in the Board of Education of Hendrick Hudson Central School District v. Rawley that special education programs must be individualized for students to meet their unique needs (Tucker, 1983).

In 1997, amendments to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act were added to guarantee meaningful, measurable goals or outcomes for students with disabilities. It also required more involvement of the parents in developing the individualized education program (Americans with Disabilities Act, 1990; Sabino, 2020). Individual education plans or individual learning plans follow federal guidelines with specific goals for student performance (U.S. Department of Education, 2019). Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), there are 13 disabilities identified, "autism, deaf-blindness, deafness, emotional disturbance, hearing impairment, intellectual disabilities, orthopedic impairment, other health impairment, specific learning disability, speech or language impairment, traumatic brain injury, visual impairment including blindness" (U.S. Department of Education (IDEA), 2017)

Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *situation* variable was the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on students with disabilities, special education teachers, and families on daily traditional school routines. There were interventions to support students with disabilities during the traditional school day, including occupational, physical, and specialized speech therapy as part of their routine (Alhumaid et al., 2020; Preston, 2020; Prior, 2020). In an interview with NBC News, JoAnna Van Brusselen expressed concerns about not having access to the services her daughter needs for a stroke she suffered in utero (Preston, 2020). The occupational therapy after the stroke keeps Iolani's hand from sitting curled up on her chest. Since the closing of schools, JoAnna was concerned that Iolani would regress as she worked with two teachers, three instructional aides, and seven therapists (Preston, 2020; Smith, 2020).

Many people take part in the care and instruction of students, and they voiced the same concerns of parents about the COVID-19 pandemic slip. These students are

vulnerable to regression when services are modified or shifted when not ready (Frederick et al., 2020). Answering Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *self*-variable, the students with individual education plans or individual learning plans were affected by the closing of schools as it revised their identified services. These educators were laboring to make distance learning work for their students with disabilities (Frederick et al., 2020; Jameson et al., 2020; Smith, 2020).

There were unexpected challenges with closing schools and how to serve students with disabilities regarding the free appropriate public education (FAPE) part of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Frederick et al., 2020). Special education law relies on FAPE as it is the foundation for the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. However, FAPE requires conforming to individual education plans for students (Jameson et al., 2020). Utilizing Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *support* variable, the families of students with disabilities took issue with how schools would adhere to their student's IEP according to federal law (Frederick et al., 2020; Jameson et al., 2020; Smith, 2020). Special education students filed lawsuits in some states as their IEP or ILP was jeopardized ascribable to school shutdowns. One example was the lawsuit about the education for students with disabilities not considered "life-sustaining." The IEP services changed from 32.5 hours in the classroom setting to the online interaction of 1.25 hours (Jameson et al., 2020; Wolfman-Arent, 2020).

Carpenter and Dunn's (2021) research collected around the United States found an inconsistent implementation of moving IEPs or ILPs online for students and families during the COVID-19 pandemic. The transition to online presents very different learning concerns for students with disabilities and how their IEPs or ILPs are implemented. Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *strategies* variable asks how the person copes with these transitions. Macy et al.'s (2018) study identified practices that *support* learning for students with disabilities, such as professional development, modeling diversity, assignment choice, and Universal Design for Learning (UDL), providing equity in education.

#### **Summary and Conclusion**

The literature review revealed no identifiable specifics about how IEPs or ILPs satisfied the needs of students with disabilities during the urgent transition from inclassroom to online learning. Living and teaching in Wyoming have advantages for families and those with a child who has a disability. The State of Wyoming included a section on education for all students into its constitution with an allocated allocation of monies for special education. Obtaining work as a teacher in Wyoming can take a long time but is still manageable.

The responsibilities of a traditional classroom teacher have changed since the COVID-19 pandemic. Educators are recreating themselves to work in the online classroom. The necessary transition to online learning was not easy for all educators and families as it depended on the levels of knowledge, comfort, and access to technology. Living in some areas had difficulty with the internet regarding the cost, access, consistency, and technology available to connect.

The transition to online learning for students with disabilities caused unintentional learning gaps and disruptions in routines. During the transition, the concern was

providing instruction with the same educational opportunities for all students, even students with disabilities, from in-classroom to online learning. Concerns arose about fulfilling federal FAPE and IDEA laws and state laws that mandate student IEP or ILP growth. The lack of government officials' understanding of the federal laws and concerns about compliance for a students' education plans or individual learning plans. Lawsuits are filed on behalf of students with disabilities not receiving an education equal to their peers. Chapter 3 includes the introduction, research design, rationale, researcher role, methodology, instrumentation, recruitment procedures, participation, data collection, data analysis plan, trustworthiness issues, ethical procedures, and summary.

#### Chapter 3: Research Method

This research design was of a basic qualitative nature, using participants' points of view as the foundation examined for the central idea (Creswell & Báez, 2020). The basic qualitative design informed my plan, articulation, and work process (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to examine the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from inclassroom to online learning for students with disabilities and identify future supports for transitions to online learning. The qualitative research design showed an interconnected and interrelated grounded study, not remote from the other parts. The aligning of the basic qualitative design used research to examine the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition. It was used to acquire data from interviews and questionnaires (see Appendices A and B). In Chapter 3, the research design and rationale, the role of the researcher, methodology, procedures for recruitment, participation, data collection, and trustworthiness issues are examined.

#### **Research Design and Rationale**

This section includes a presentation of the research design and a basic qualitative study. Mirriam and Tisdell (2015) explained that the main characteristic of basic qualitative research was the individual's construct of their world. There are three points of interest for basic qualitative research. The first was interpreting people's experiences, the second was how their world is constructed, and the third was the meaning attached to the experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). These three areas aligned with the

overarching question that examined special education teachers' and families' transitions from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The guiding research question was used to align the work throughout the study, guiding my understanding of the participants' perception of the COVID-19 pandemic event. The question provided a framework for other questions for the interview protocol, soliciting specific information on the topic. The questions for the research were open-ended, inviting more information from the participants. The guiding research question of this research pertained to challenges special education teachers and parents experienced during their transition to online learning in Wyoming during the COVID-19 pandemic. While collecting data from participants, three subquestions were asked following the guiding research question.

Research Question: What challenges were experienced to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities by secondary special education teachers and parents to support the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming?

SQ1: How did teachers and parents in Wyoming describe the transition experience from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic?

SQ2: What adjustments were made by special education teachers and parents in Wyoming with the instructional *supports* in place when the transition from inclassroom to online learning for students with disabilities occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic?

SQ3: What changes or *supports* would help special education teachers and parents in Wyoming transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the future like a pandemic?

The method and approach associated with this basic qualitative study examined the life experiences, thoughts, feelings, and concerns that influenced special education teachers and parents. The special education teachers' strategies focused on transitioning students' online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic while determining the best change. The participants' individual experiences attributed to the transition from inclassroom to online learning are included. When alignment throughout the structural elements of the study is present, there is a logical progression for the dissertation research (Miles, 2019).

Researchers had previously ascertained that educators and supervisors did not feel adequately prepared for the transition from in-classroom to online and had concerns about the switch for special education students (Eachempati & Ramnarayan, 2020; Hill, 2020; Petretto et al., 2020). School programs that use intentional technology integration can support the skills of students with disabilities' developing consistency (Peterson et al., 2020). Schools need intentional opportunities to use technology for students with disabilities (Al Lily et al., 2020; Gupta et al., 2020; Kinard & Mahaffey, 2020). During the COVID-19 pandemic closure, issues during the transition minimized the application of technology.

The study used a qualitative research methodology with a basic qualitative study design. The characteristics of qualitative research are a natural setting, the researcher as a

critical instrument, multiple sources of data, inductive data analysis, participants' meaning, emergent design, theoretical or conceptual lens, interpretation of findings, and a holistic perspective (adminlp2m, 2020; Austin & Sutton, 2014; Maietta et al., 2021). The holistic perspective explained the interdependencies that worked together to transition students with disabilities to an online learning environment. The problem addressed in the current study was the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from inclassroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming. An efficient study was conducted using a basic qualitative research design (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Merriam and Grenier (2019) explained that qualitative research is learning "...how people understand and experience their world" (2019, p. 4) as the reason to collect lived experiences of participants, and for this study, meeting the individualized needs of students with disabilities.

Qualitative research occurs in the social, clinical, or interpersonal context where statistical or numeric data is insufficient to capture the experiences (Austin & Sutton, 2014). It was pertinent to this study to use basic qualitative research to understand the experiences of secondary special education teachers and parents. The study used their understanding of transition events during the COVID-19 pandemic, an emphasis on the perceptions of participants (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Quantitative research was not appropriate for this study. There was no hypothesis or predictions about participants' perceptions of events around the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. As Bloomfield and Fisher (2019) explained, quantitative

research generates numerical data believing in a single truth or reality, frequently assessing a null hypothesis not used in this study.

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to examine the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities and identify future supports for this kind of transition to online learning. In this qualitative study, I used the Schlossberg transition model's four areas identified: (a) situation, (b) self, (c) supports, and (d) strategies (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The four Schlossberg (1995) variables questions were used to discover the experiences of special education teachers and parents to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming. I used those variables to create follow-up questions to understand better how the person felt. Schlossberg et al.'s theory guided the research by using semistructured interviews with open-ended questions for the participant to expand answers that provide information in the four areas (Schlossberg, 2011; Workman, 2011). There are three goals in undertaking a qualitative study: opinions, motivations, and the participant's understanding (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018).

# **Concept and Phenomenon of the Study**

This study was about the experiences of the transition from in-classroom to online learning for special education teachers and parents. In qualitative research, the concept is a systematic process whereby the researcher creates building blocks of a theory and the researcher's points (Aspers & Corte, 2019; Thompson, 2017). The phenomenon of the study was the understanding of the subjective experience of the identified participants (Aspers & Corte, 2019; Thompson, 2017). The inciting issue of the study was the COVID-19 pandemic which was the phenomenon that caused the transition for teachers and families to online learning for their students with disabilities (Engelhard, 1991).

# **Research Tradition**

Tradition in research is a group of scholars agreeing about the nature of the universe and how they examine legitimate questions or problems and the techniques used to find solutions (Jacob, 1987). Different qualitative research traditions suggest various assumptions and ways of investigating measurement in social science research; the six inquiry traditions are ethnography, grounded theory, phenomenology, narrative, case study, and basic. The qualitative traditions work best when researching the why and how by using open-ended questions in studying human nature and society (Chandra & Shang, 2019; Pratt et al., 2020).

Using a qualitative study improves a researcher's comprehension of the experience within the world, provides opportunities for detailed descriptions of differing perspectives, and shows disparity issues or implementation concerns, feelings, and knowledge (Creswell & Creswell, 2020; Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). As the qualitative researcher, I collected participants' perspectives using semi-structured interviews examining firsthand experiences (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). The interviews allowed an opportunity to ask follow-up questions, check for clarity, and summarize for accuracy (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). The

questionnaires provided open-ended questions for participants' perceptions (Braun et al., 2020; Rahi et al., 2019).

#### **Justification of Research Design**

The research design was the process used by the researcher in linking theories, questions, and methods. The intentional use of a basic qualitative research design examines the participant's experiences related to this study (J.W. Creswell et al., 2007; Creswell & Creswell,2017; Jaakkola, 2020). It was a way to give others information about how the research was done in a responsible, pragmatic paper. Conducting research is creating new knowledge to answer questions or clarify theories. A conceptual article must explain how and why the research choices are determined (Jaakkola, 2020).

#### Ethnography Study

Ethnographic research is the systematic chronicling of people in their settings or groups. The researcher wants to engross themselves in cultural and environmental aspects (Roldán, 2013). These studies are associated with anthropological research as a prospective study done over time. The study is small-scale, watching and observing those being watched or studied. An ethnography study provides insight into a group's behaviors, actions, and viewpoints. The observer learns how to participate in the task by employing interviews or observations (Creswell & Guetterman, 2018; Strudwick, 2020). Malinowski is known as one of the founding fathers of ethnography and for the understanding of 'the living right among the natives'' (Roldán, 2013, p. 144). They were becoming an immersive experience to learn about the identified groups as ethnography tends to investigate the influences of a larger society on cultural groups. Explaining the immersion into living with and learning to understand a chosen group. Ethnographyworks better with a prospective study over time than with retrospective research.Ethnography is not feasible for this study. There are time expectations and time to buildlong, honest relationships with participants to share their experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic.

# Grounded Theory

The grounded theory uses one of two approaches, inductive or deductive, written by Glaser and Strauss (1967). Inductive works from the specific to the general, using particular observations to make extensive generalizations (Glaser & Strauss, 1967). If three observations are similar about kids riding a bike and falling off, then the inductive process is that all kids fall off the bike when they ride (Bradford, 2017). Deductive works from the general to the specific such as all women are mothers, and Mary is a woman, she must be a mother. The deductive is a universal statement to a narrow conclusion (Bradford, 2017). The grounded theory data would be analyzed into themes, keywords, and phrases, grouped and reviewed; no hypothesis is used. At the end of the process, the data has provided the theory (Turner & Astin, 2021). As grounded theory starts with data collected and then fits into the inductive or deductive approaches, it was unsuitable for this study. This study began with questions using a conceptual framework of transition theory to understand an isolated event, a retrospective occurrence.

# Phenomenological Study

In a phenomenological study, the researcher tries to understand consciousness such as a first-hand experience as the starting point, not the world of nature. The phenomenological research is experientialist, which means that experiences are heavily relied on as knowledge rather than deductive or formal learning. A phenomenological study has a rationalist exploring time. It examines the hours, minutes, and seconds and their relation to the event (Heotis, 2020; Moustakas, 1994; The Living Philosophy, 2021). Time runs at the same speed no matter what happens in the human experience. The phenomenological was studying the first-person experience, like that of a student in class watching the clock never move for dismissal, only two minutes before the bell rings. Even though I worked to understand participants' experiences in this study, I was not trying to focus on the phenomenon's fundamental nature. Husserl's phenomenological methodology is explained in The Living Philosophy (2021); it was the phenomenon to which the removal of all filters and judgments was reduced to the rawest experience. This study was not looking for the most basic experience dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic but a retrospective understanding of experiences during a transition using the variables of Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) methodology.

#### Narrative Study

A narrative is life history, presenting a situation or series of events. The narrative study focuses on the story or stories of an event in detail. It is usually a single individual's experience. The narrative study was about how people communicate with one another and looks to provide a meaning for the stories and how that can change people (Creswell & Guetterman, 2018; Nigar, 2020). A narrative study for a single case will not provide enough different experiences about the transition from in-classroom to online learning and the experiences or challenges of special education teachers and

parents. One incident will not provide the information to reach saturation about experiences or challenges concerning the transition from in-classroom to online learning for special education teachers and parents. Multiple interviews should provide a collection of experiences on a specific event that impacted people, providing a better opportunity to generalize the experience.

# Case Study Design

Yin defined a case study as "an empirical inquiry that investigates a contemporary phenomenon in depth and within a real-world context, especially when the boundaries between phenomenon and context may not be evident." The case study relies on triangulation data points, adding to the research already conducted (Soy, 1997). TA case study started with an experiment or observation of a current phenomenon about a person, group, or a single event to seek patterns or a cause of behavior (Yin, 2009). The case study design would not work for this research as a prospective view following over time and space. The basic qualitative analysis is a retrospective to examine the events during the transition when the COVID-19 pandemic caused many schools to close.

# **Basic Qualitative Study**

A basic qualitative study was learning how people clarify their experiences. They see the world around them and the meaning attached to that understanding; it was also a retrospective view of these events. The "research problems become research questions based on prior research experience (Davis, 2021)." This study collected the experiences of special education teachers and parents. It reported their experiences of the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic to learn how this

group made sense of the events (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). The basic qualitative study has been selected to study the participants' real-world experiences to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities.

For this research, the collected data focusing on an educational transition supports the use of a basic qualitative study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Basic qualitative studies use a collection of interviews, observations, and documents to analyze (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Nigar, 2020; Turner & Astin, 2021; Braun et al., 2020; Rahi et al., 2019). An electronic questionnaire recruited participants, collected thoughts and experiences of a transition during the COVID-19 pandemic, and conducted interviews with special education teachers and parents (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). The practice of a basic qualitative study was to uncover and interpret participants' experiences so that the findings may apply to larger areas.

# **Characteristics of Qualitative Research**

Several qualitative research characteristics are identified, a natural setting visiting with people, and observing them in a natural context (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Nigar, 2020). The primary instrument is the researcher collecting their data from participants, observations, and documentation (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Turner & Astin, 2021). Multiple data sources are used in qualitative research and do not rely on one data source (adminlp2m, 2020). Qualitative researchers apply inductive data analysis by building categories, patterns, and themes (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Nigar, 2020). Other qualitative research characteristics and the primary reason for selecting this type of study are the participant's understanding or interpretation of experiences. The researcher's

responsibility is to interpret what participants tell is seen, heard, and understood clearly and coherently about the examined content (Merriam & Grenier, 2019).

#### **Role of the Researcher**

For this study, I took the part of a complete observer. As the complete observer, I do not have students nor participate in the individualized needs of students to transition from in-classroom to online learning (Mustapha, 2020). I had a position at one of the seven secondary buildings where I worked with the special services teachers. Unfortunately, the turnover in these buildings was high. The advantage was it changed any interactions with possible participants that would have been an issue. The observer-as-participant for this research would not work as I had not participated in the individualized transition of students by working with secondary special education teachers and parents (Mustapha, 2020). As a participant-observer, it would be full participant category as I have no children of school-age nor classroom students to meet the requirements.

As the observer for this study, I provided a safe environment for participants to share experiences about the COVID-19 pandemic transition (Mustapha, 2020). As an employee of the district in the position of a teacher on special assignment for special services (TOSA), it was important to understand the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the participants. I developed a relationship with them to feel safe in their environment and share their experiences (Mustapha, 2020). As a person who was not in the classroom but a content curator for special services, the only contact was for instructional materials created in the district software. There was no teacher supervision with the role of TOSA for special services. As I am not a classroom teacher, I do not understand what happened during the special education transition to online. The interviews provided information on experiences with secondary special education teachers and parents during this time.

As the interviewer, it was essential for me to be an active listener and note-taker and have follow-up questions that clearly show my understanding of the experience of this event (McGrath et al., 2019). I provided the school district or district designee with a current caption of the study. As the researcher, I was also responsible for a written request to the district to conduct the study with random participants of secondary special education teachers and parents to interview. Once permission was obtained, the following information was shared: contact information and a request to distribute, sent invitations to participants, secured participant informed consent, conducted a field study, and performed semistructured interviews and audio recordings with field notes (Edwards & Holland, 2020).

# Methodology

The methodology clarifies the rationale of data in research as the kind needed or collected, the sampling design, collection methods, and the analysis (Jansen & Warren, 2020; Mignone, 2021). When a basic qualitative research method is selected, it is to help the researcher learn and understand the world around them by analyzing the written or spoken words of lived experiences of identified participants (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). Participant criterion started with a questionnaire asking for people living in Wyoming during the COVID-19 pandemic, employed as a special education teacher, or a family

member with a child enrolled in school during the transition from in-classroom to online learning. The criterion was checked using the questionnaire questions and verbal affirmation during oral interviews (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Rahi et al., 2019). If people wanted to volunteer and provide more information for an interview, they provided a personal email, and then an email was sent to request a meeting (Merriam & Grenier, 2019).

It was typical to have fewer participants for purposeful sampling in qualitative research. Information considerations with the smaller sample size provided in-depth experiences and complexity about the transition from in-classroom to online learning (S. E. Anderson & Putman, 2020; Khalil et al., 2020; Kim & Asbury, 2020; Parker et al., 2021). As a researcher, it was essential to achieve saturation or information redundancy by interviewing four teacher participants and two parents (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Once institutional permission was obtained from Walden and the local school district to conduct the study, an online questionnaire with research information was provided for participants through official emails or social media with criteria and contact specifications. Another recruitment option was to post on social media, such as Cheyenne Teachers Education Association Facebook, Wyoming Education Association Facebook, and other local Wyoming association Facebook pages providing contact information and a brief description of the research.

I submitted forms to get approval from IRB and, when it was appropriate, asked the school district for permission to start the study. Once permission was given, I started communication by sending a letter of introduction to building administrators. An email request was sent to each high school and junior high school principal, requesting the sharing of the recruitment email to special education teachers at the secondary level. I posted on social media to recruit parents of special education students using the social media invitation. As I got volunteers who met the qualifications, I set up interviews for a time that worked for participants. The electronic questionnaire closed when data saturation had occurred or time had passed.

#### **Population**

A population in qualitative research is defined as a group of individuals or entities with shared characteristics or attributes (Creswell & Guetterman, 2018; Etikan & Babtope, 2019). This study was considered a finite population as the research was conducted in Wyoming. The targeted participants were secondary special education teachers and parents of students with disabilities. The information collected from this population was their experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic transitions from inclassroom to online learning.

# **Justification of Sampling Strategy**

As a qualitative study identifying secondary special education teachers and parents of students with disabilities, the sampling was a non-random strategy (Etikan & Babtope, 2019). Using an online questionnaire that provided demographics and questions supported sampling for this basic qualitative study and how participants were selected. Etikan and Babtope (2019) explained that the sample size needs to represent the population identified to make accurate inferences. Guest et al.'s (2020) research addresses sample size for qualitative saturation. Qualitative research found that the new information came in the first five or six interviews. Little new information was added to 20 participants (Guest et al., 2020). The number of participants was four teachers and two parents of students with disabilities (Guest et al., 2020).

#### **Criteria for Selecting Participants**

When conducting a qualitative study, it was valuable to select participants who represented the elements of the research question (Sargeant, 2012). The questions of this study focused on participants' experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic and the transition from in-classroom to online. They must live in Wyoming and had residency during the COVID-19 pandemic. The special education teachers worked in a Wyoming school during the pandemic. There was no other limitation as there were teachers at all levels in their teaching careers. The parents of children with disabilities at the secondary level were asked to participate in the study as they supported their students during the transition to online learning. The question was the challenge of secondary special education teachers and parents of students with disabilities; these participants were identified for this study. Another aspect was the transitions from in-classroom to online learning, so the earlier described participants needed to have participated in the process. The time element identified for the study is during the COVID-19 pandemic. The location element of this research question is Wyoming. Using these elements of the research question for participant selection provided data that appropriately addressed the study topic (Guest et al., 2020; Sargeant, 2012).

#### Instrumentation

The instrument is the tool used by researchers to collect data on the study. The instrument was determined by the researcher and tied to the research. The instruments available for the basic qualitative study were interviews, tests, questionnaires, checklists, or observation of participants (Balucanag-Bitonio, 2014; Creswell & Guetterman, 2019; Teachers College, Columbia University, n.d.). A good research instrument is reliable and valid. It will gather relevant data to provide insight into participants' experiences. The instrument should have clear instructions on use or implementation (Balucanag-Bitoni, 2014; Creswell & Guetterman, 2019; Teachers College, Columbia University, n.d.).

# **Data Collection Instruments and Source**

Interviews were part of the qualitative research used for many years as an instrument for data collection. The verbal interaction between interviewer and interviewee allows a rapport to build for follow-up and deeper questioning (Billups, 2019; Jacob & Furgerson, 2015; McGrath et al., 2019). Tests are another data collection method measuring variables or characteristics with at least one ordinal present (Bewick et al., 2003). Test data focused on frequencies, counts, or numbers in categories that dealt with statistical information.

Braun et al. (2020) explain that surveys were used in mixed-methods and quantitative research but were rarely considered qualitative studies. The qualitative survey consists of open-ended questions that provide rich information in their language for typed personal responses (Braun et al., 2020). Ricci et al. (2019) reviewed articles on qualitative methods that generated questionnaires to collect data. There were similar steps in each article reviewed (a) review of literature, (b) concept elicitation, outcomes from participants that are spontaneous due to open-ended questions, (c) analysis of the qualitative data, (d) a debriefing or practice with new items that develop, and (e) interviews to elicit thoughts about the questionnaire items written on the topic (Ricci et al., 2019).

#### **Interview Protocol**

The interview protocol used for this study followed the four phases described in Castillo-Montoya's (2016) research. The first two phases focused on how the questions aligned with the research and asked for participants' active feedback. The last two phases are feedback on the questions and practicing the interviews (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). The researcher wanted to understand the events, and the intentional questions supported participants in explaining their experiences during the events. The interview protocol provided consistency as the same information and questions were asked of each participant for more precise data collection (Castillo-Montoya, 2016).

# **Questionnaire Protocol**

The questionnaire protocol was the study that collected data from prospective participants and was administered either in person, by phone, or electronically. It was the method used to deliver the questionnaire (Kross & Giust, 2019; Pozzo et al., 2019; Ricci et al., 2019). The questionnaire instrument had questions or other prompts that elicited responses that mixed open-ended or closed-ended questions. The questionnaire was essential to focus on the study's objective to collect accurate and complete information (Kross & Giust, 2019; Ricci et al., 2019).

#### **Sufficiency of Data Collection Instruments**

The data collection instructions for this study included personal interviews. During the interview, a section on observations collected data on facial expressions, body movements, gestures, eye contact, touch, voice, and space or wait time between questions and answers (Melinda, 2020). The interview process allowed for more interactions and follow-up details from the interviewee. The interviews were recorded, allowed time to focus on the conversation, made quick notes, and wrote reflections when the interview was done (Bright, 2020). The interview and survey questions aimed to understand the interviewee's perceptions (Bright, 2020; Merriam & Grenier, 2019).

Triangulation was analyzing data from different sources, people, and other resources (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). I triangulated data using personal interviews, questionnaires, and state documents from the COVID-19 pandemic. The information informed people about how special education continued during the closing of schools (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Using the collected data allowed a comparison of the experiences provided and offered a thorough examination of themes, subthemes, and patterns to code, compile, and review (Bright, 2020; Merriam & Grenier, 2019).

# **Published Data Collection Instruments**

A published data collection instrument was not available for use as it needed to focus on this topic. In this basic qualitative study, the instruments were researcherdeveloped to follow the research and provide the best source of information on the topic, according to Merriam and Grenier (2019) and Merriam and Tisdell (2015). I used
interview questions asking specific questions about the individualized needs of students with disabilities as a retrospective experience when they transitioned from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming (Appendix A & B). Castillo-Montoya (2016) identified in phase one that the "interview questions align with research questions (p.812)." Creswell and Creswell (2017) discussed the audience's knowledge of a topic that the researcher collected to understand the event. The research for this study was focused on specific content and required researcher-developed questions.

# **Researcher-Developed Instruments**

Using Nayak and Narayan (2019) and Braun et al. (2020), a survey and interview were associated with this study's research question. An online questionnaire was used for recruiting. Questions were placed in the online questionnaire to reflect on the experience and provide space if participants consented to be interviewed. Participants gave consent using the form provided. Zoom and phone calls were used for semi-structured interviews. DeJonckheere and Vaughn's (2019) research suggests gathering information with semistructured interviews would provide valuable data.

An interview protocol was designed following the recommendations of Rahi et al. (2019) and Kross and Giust (2019). The protocol provided a standard for the interviews for consistency when interviewing the special education teachers and the parents of students with disabilities. It helped collect personally lived transition experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic school closures (Interview protocols in Appendix A & B). The interview questions were structured following Mirriam and Tisdell's (2015) continuum.

In Mirriram and Tisdell's (2015) continuum, highly structured, semistructured, and unstructured questions were formats. As this study used the semistructured form, interview questions were more or less structured, there was flexibility with the questions, and questions were not predetermined for wording order. The online questionnaire had space for personal information for a follow-up interview. A letter was to schedule interviews with participants. A letter of introduction was sent to school principals with information to be shared with potential participants.

The documents provided by the State of Wyoming Department of Education to school districts regarding procedures followed during the COVID-19 pandemic, along with the federal documents, state that all individuals with disabilities education act (IDEA) remained in full effect (CDC, 2020; Laramie County School District 1, 2019; U.S. Department of Education, 2020; Wyoming Department of Education, 2019). The published artifacts were documents from the United States Department of Education, Office of Special Education, which wrote federal guidelines (U.S. Department of Education, 2020). The documents explained national law expectations working with special education students and their families during the pandemic. The district adopted learning plan, located on the district website, was submitted to the Wyoming Department of Education. It outlined that special education and related services would continue (Wyoming Department of Education, 2020a).

# **Instrument Development (Pilot Study)**

Pilot studies were necessary to check for clarity of questions and procedures to increase research quality. As I used a researcher-developed instrument, it was essential to

have a pilot study to ensure reliability and validity. The pilot study was the "testing out "of the specific instrument for this research study (Malmqvist et al., 2019). The pilot study was necessary to modify questions to check if procedures were clear and elicited responses that provided rich data (Malmqvist et al., 2019). The pilot study for the questionnaire and interviews was conducted with friends who are special education teachers and parents of students with disabilities. I called, texted, and emailed people and asked if they would participate in the pilot study. I provided them with the link to the Survey Monkey site where the questionnaire was located. Once they worked through the questionnaire, they filled out the information about contacting them for an interview; I then requested a time for the practice interview. I used the interview protocol and followed that process until completed. I then asked for feedback and corrected the questionnaire and interview process.

## **Establishment of Content Validity**

Four components were identified to verify the instrument's content validity used in a study: domain definition, domain representation, domain relevance, and test construction procedures' appropriateness (Almanasreh et al., 2019). Almanasreh et al.'s (2019) research identified two threats affecting the four elements. The first was constructirrelevant content. Irrelevant data may come up in the data collection from participants. Still, the researcher must focus on the interpreted core concept (Almanasreh et al., 2019). Content under-representation happens when the instrument does not represent the content, and over-representation can threaten research like guided questioning (Almanasreh et al., 2019). During the pilot study, these four areas helped minimize these threats to validity and kept the study focused.

## **Sufficiency of Data Collection Instruments**

The sufficiency of data collection instruments means the condition or quality of adequate tools used to collect information for research. It was compulsory for the researcher to check and critically appraise the instruments to ensure a relationship to the research (Hannes, 2011). FitzPatrick (2019) provided citations on instrumentation validity from a list of "writers such as Cronbach and Meehl, Messick, Kane, and others (p. 212)." FitzPatrick's (2019) study provides information on unique validation procedures in each qualitative study. There are two ways to explain the validity of qualitative research questions; the first was constructivist epistemology, the lived experiences, in this case, the secondary special education teachers and the parents of students with disabilities. The second validity was the realist ontology; this is the truth a person believes. Some people do not think vaccines will help, and their fact is supported by other perceptions of that truth (Kross & Giust, 2019; Maxwell, 2012; Rahi et al., 2019). A current example is the COVID-19 shots.

# **Procedures For Pilot Studies**

The Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval number is 12-21-21-0029474, and the process began. Pilot studies conducted on a small scale as a preliminary study investigated the feasibility of the research, cost, and time (Hygnstrom, 2020; Lancaster & Thabane, 2019; Malmqvist et al., 2019; Shah et al., 2020). Pilot studies provide valuable information about the study either having problems or working flawlessly (Hygnstrom, 2020). The pilot study must verify that the questions correlated to the research (Malmqvist et al., 2019). Another justification for this pilot study was to ensure that all participants had clear instructions, procedures, and information.

The pilot study was nonrandomized as four friends were invited to participate using the practice questionnaire and then interviewed using the research questions. The specific friends are special education teachers and parents of students with disabilities who were asked to participate in the pilot study and informed that they are under no obligation (Lancaster & Thabane, 2019; Malmqvist et al., 2019). The recruitment was personal invitations through email, text messaging, and phone calls to answer the questionnaire and be interviewees, which narrowed the time limits for participants' involvement in the research (Malmqvist et al., 2019). All information on the pilot participants is stored in a secure folder as it does not provide results for the main study. The same ethical guidelines for the primary research were applied to the pilot study.

## **Content Validity and Data Collection Devices**

One of the methods for data collection was Survey Monkey, which filtered those prospective participants for the study. The questionnaire was shared through schools and social media, providing the link that searched for participants. The online service provided anonymity and helped collect data for open-ended questions similar to the interview questions (Kross & Giust, 2019; Rahi et al., 2020). The participants in the semistructured interviews provided consent for recording and transcription for accuracy (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). The questionnaire and interviews provided information on experiences and their relation to Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) four factors (Aung et al., 2021; Braun & Clarke, 2021; DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). The researcher-designed questions and sub-questions were used in the semi-structured interviews, a tool used in qualitative studies to gain insight into the participants' perspectives (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019).

Referring to Merriam and Grenier (2019), the researcher must learn about the participants' experiences and perspectives on the world. A semistructured interview was a valuable tool. It allowed flexibility and follow-up questions for deeper understanding and clarification (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). The focus of this study was the experiences of the key participants, and the semi-structured interview was appropriate to learn and understand the experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic events. Moreover, this research topic was the experiences of secondary special education teachers and parents to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming.

# **Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection**

## **Pilot Study**

Before conducting the study, I applied to Walden's institutional review board (IRB) for approval to do research. The pilot study was conducted once IRB approval was received. I recruited two friends to take the survey in Survey Monkey to make sure connections were working and skips worked correctly to move the participant to the next question. I contacted four friends and asked if they would like to participate in the study's interviews for a final clean-up. I tested interview questions on four friends to ensure the questions were straightforward and that the follow-up questions were logical to the conversation. Corrections were made for nonverbal cues such as nodding the head or hand gestures.

# Recruitment

Once the investigation had IRB approval, a written request was sent to the district asking permission to solicit participants by sharing the SurveyMonkey link via emails and social media within Wyoming. I took on the part of a complete observer as I do not have students nor participate in the individualized needs of students to transition from inclassroom to online learning (Mustapha, 2020). I filled out a form for one district which introduced the research, also providing a link to the questionnaire. The letter provided detailed information about the study with a communicated purpose and was submitted to proper school district personnel. The data collection took two months to find participants willing to take part. What I thought would be an easy process was very difficult to find secondary special education teachers and parents willing to be interviewed. The final numbers were four special education teachers and two parents.

These steps support communication and cooperation between the researcher and the school in Wyoming when searching for participants. Most schools in the state have websites with email addresses for the school board, superintendent, and building principals to email a request and letter of introduction to the administrators in the school district. The district sent the email to all eligible participants from the administrative level email or department email. Using the consent by responding to the email, I had the email of those who volunteered to be part of the study. All participants received individualized letters and emails with the same contact and research information to ask questions before the interviews to gain the participants' trust for their comfort and privacy (Edwards & Holland, 2020). The interview process was a private meeting that took 45 to 60 minutes or longer, depending on the interviewee's thoughts (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). The interviews were conducted conveniently for the participant using Zoom, Microsoft Teams, or phones with backup recordings.

## **Data Collection**

Another reason for a pilot study was to check the clarity of the questions for participants. The interviewee needed to feel comfortable with the information shared when answering the questions. They had an opportunity to debrief when they reviewed the transcribed interview. As I conducted the research, it was meaningful to the interviewee to have an active listener who listened, asking follow-up questions about their sharing during the interview. The transcripts were reviewed to check their feelings about the interview process and if their answers were clear. A pilot study conducted with friends in special education at the elementary level was to ensure that questions were clear and understandable. It was also to make sure the questionnaire worked and was accessible. Minor corrections in verbiage with both the questions and electronic questionnaire were comprehensible.

The consistency of the questions allowed minimal variation from participant to participant between the questionnaire and interviews. During the pilot study, if there was a need to reword questions and alter follow-up questions for clarity, it was done during this time (Aung et al., 2021; DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). The semistructured interviews were done with individual participants to limit contact due to the COVID-19 pandemic and allowed more flexibility with meeting times. Meeting in a one-on-one environment also provided anonymity since it is such a small population in Wyoming, and a need for anonymity is essential (Aung et al., 2021; DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019).

Experiences may differ depending on the participants of the identified group. Issues may be varied when providing care for students with disabilities. The experiences may be more than technology access or cost issues for installation and data rates described in other research for students in rural areas. Teachers had to be in special education at the secondary level working within Wyoming. The parent participants had to have a student in the special education program at the secondary level during the COVID-19 pandemic when the closing occurred, living in Wyoming. The criterion was confirmed when interviewing participants in good faith. This study was essential to interview four teacher participants and two parents to reach saturation or information redundancy (Braun & Clarke, 2021; DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). If recruiting participants from the school district were difficult, other options included posting on social media. Statewide social media groups were available through Facebook, Instagram, and even Twitter to place social media invitations. If the participants chose to participate in a one-on-one interview, a \$20 gift card was offered. I provided contact information and a brief description of the research.

# **Data Analysis Plan**

The online questionnaire was locked when participant interviews were completed and one month had passed from the start of the collection. The first thing done was the organization of the interview recordings. I used an online software company that transcribed audio files, Temi (*Audio to Text Automatic Transcription Service & App / Temi.Com*, n.d.). Once the transcript was completed, I checked for accuracy and provided the participant with a copy to review. I reread the data and journaled about thoughts in each section, adding color-coded notes of further impressions of the interviews. Once the transcription was set, NVivo analyzed words, phrases, themes, and patterns. As the online questionnaire asked the participant to write out their thoughts on the questions, the process followed the color-coded note-taking in the journal using demographics for categories.

To triangulate the data, I used themes and categories from the data collected to examine this research's experiences of secondary special education teachers and parents during the COVID-19 pandemic transition. Conducting the initial open coding of the data, I identified word and phrase repetitions. I also used Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) four variables which helped sort and examine how their story was connected to the categories (Keenan et al., 2005). I used the color-coded journal notes to validate the data where selfreflection notes were kept. The notes related to the interviews to check if leading questions were used, bias was present, and trustworthiness was maintained. The second coding cycle was to identify patterns and themes again using the reflective journal and comments for rumination of the data. As this research is about participants' perceptions of the transition from in-classroom to online learning, any discrepancies that need further investigation were reported.

#### **Issues of Trustworthiness**

In establishing trustworthiness with the participants, it was essential to understand the parts created during the research. Connelly (2016) shared the criteria outlined by Lincoln and Guba, which are now accepted by many current qualitative researchers: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. I used two methods to support credibility (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Triangulating research required multiple data sources, reducing bias to understand the participant's point of view. To provide another point for triangulation, I used documents from the state and district offices about moving forward during the transition to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. Another technique I used was member checking, which occurred when the recording was made into a transcript. The participant was asked to review the document to ensure their meaning or intent had not changed.

Transferability is the magnitude to which the results can benefit persons in other environments (Connelly, 2016; Korstjens & Moser, 2018). This study retrospectively looked at transitioning from in-classroom to online during the COVID-19 pandemic. In this study, the setting was a rural state with two metropolitan cities. As Wyoming is considered rural, the findings may benefit other school districts. As other studies were conducted in rural settings worldwide, the research may aid others in these countries with similar populations or communities who made urgent transitions.

Dependability was the stability of the data over the time of the study. Part of being dependable for this study was the assumption of repeating the study with similar feelings or issues (Connelly, 2016; Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Nguyen et al., 2021). To ensure dependability, providing the research steps taken in detail will support the repeating of the study. I recorded the interview to provide a transcription for the participant for review. Providing this checking process allowed the participant to clarify or check if their meaning or intent was evident during the interview (Aung et al., 2021; Connelly, 2016; DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019; McGrath et al., 2019).

Confirmability is the consistency of the findings in qualitative data, and saturation is met with repeated themes or topics (Connelly, 2016). Confirmability ensures that the researcher correctly interprets the results without bias in changing the data. The journal logs and transcripts helped focus the study and alleviate bias concerns in analyzing the data and verifying the selected participants' authenticity. I asked them if they were employed at the secondary level in Wyoming and if they worked with students with disabilities. I confirmed this question with parents of students with disabilities so that the information collected was true for data-rich details and descriptions (Connelly, 2016; Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Nguyen et al., 2021)

# **Ethical Procedures**

In this basic qualitative study, the researcher interacted with participants, which required assurances of privacy and confidentiality. Conducting the semistructured interviews placed the participant at "minimal risk" or "at-risk" (Burkholder et al., 2016). Minimal risk is focused on the harm or discomfort not being more significant to the participant than a typical day. The term "at-risk" was a very deplorable condition. It was essential to assure participants they would not be identified by name or information due to the unique population (Hadjistavropoulos & Smythe, 2001). The research procedures were outlined by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) to ensure that I provided the participants with all the needed information and protections for participating in the study. At the district selected, a research request form was submitted for approval. Once permission was obtained from IRB and the district, I sent a letter of introduction to administrators. I emailed building principals whose emails were on school websites of all four high schools and three junior highs. I requested that the administrators forward the emails to their special service people. Those who would like to participate followed the steps outlined for consent to participate in the study (Creswell & Guetterman, 2018).

When working with people, there is always some concern about trust, honesty, respect, and responsibility. I needed to trust that a reputation for confidentiality in past encounters was in good standing and allowed people to feel comfortable. I visited with them and created an environment of respect and constant reassurance that they would be kept anonymous. I have not been a classroom teacher for several years. I do not supervise or evaluate peers; no power relationships had to be discussed during the study.

There was a mix of data collected from electronic questionnaires and personal interviews across Wyoming. The confidential part of the interview was the numbering of participants and removing identifiable comments or statements from conversations (Hadjistavropoulos & Smythe, 2001. At the end of the questionnaire, participants entered their names and contact information for the interviews. Participants gave consent to the study when they moved to the next screen in SurveyMonkey. When the email was sent to schedule an interview, permission had been given when they answered the questionnaire. They were under no obligation to continue if they were uncomfortable. All information collected is kept on a password-protected thumb drive used on a private computer with a password. Data collected in SurveyMonkey was uploaded to the thumb drive to be deleted and destroyed after five years.

For the confidentiality of participants when interviewing them, their names were placed in a journal with a coordinating identification number kept in a locked cabinet. The identification number used in all computer work is held on the password-protected thumb drive. Suppose there is concern about the data collected. In that case, the information is available to IRB or Walden University upon request to review. The recruiting emails were sent to principals in the district to share with teachers who met the requirements. On the schools' Facebook sights, I posted the social media invitation. I posted the social media invitation on the Wyoming Department of Education's Facebook page and the Wyoming parent group's Facebook sights. Sharing this information about the posts reduced concerns about being identified.

A post on social media was another option to recruit participants from the school district or within Wyoming. State-wide social media groups like Cheyenne Teachers Education Association Facebook, Wyoming Education Association Facebook, and other local Wyoming association Facebook pages are available. I provided a link to the Survey Monkey page for interested participants. The recruitment procedures offered another option for as much or as little interaction with participants as they wished to keep their anonymity. I followed up with participants by phone call and emailed for questions or comments approximately one week after they received the transcript to review. The

recruitment flyer provided similar information about the study and contact information for the researcher. A participant incentive of a \$20 gift card was offered for those selected who completed their participation in the study. The offer of payment was not substantial and is customary in most research requiring volunteers. It was also a way to thank participants for their time.

## Summary

The methodology used was basic qualitative research explained by Merriam and Grenier (2019) as understanding another person's experiences within the world. As this study was the participants' experiences, it provides insight into what happened to a select group of people during the COVID-19 pandemic when schools were closed. The research design and rationale identified the natural setting, the researcher as a critical instrument, multiple data sources, indicative data analysis participant's meaning, emergent design, theoretical lens, interpretive, and the holistic aspect of research. The chapter has identified and explained the six types of qualitative research traditions and identified the researcher's role in this study.

The instrumentation tool was identified as a researcher-developed item unrelated to the published data collection instrument. The citations for the design of the data collection tool were provided and support the researcher-developed questionnaire and interview as a closer relation to the study. The interviews and questionnaire protocols align with research about participants' experiences adding validity to the study. The pilot study clarified the use of the instruments by verifying the correlation of questions used in the questionnaire and interview protocols. The final parts of this chapter discussed trustworthiness issues about recruitment, ethical procedures for participant information, and how data collection occurred for this study. Chapter 4 contains the results learned in the study and an analysis of the data collected.

#### Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to examine the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities and identify future supports for this kind of transition to online learning. I used semistructured interviews of four special education teachers and two parents of special education students from parts of the Wyoming educational system during the COVID-19 pandemic. The problem addressed in this study was the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming. The research design was of a basic qualitative nature, using participants' points of view as the foundation examined for the central idea (Creswell & Báez, 2020). The basic qualitative design informed my plan, articulation, and work process (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). The qualitative research design showed an interconnected and interrelated grounded study, not remote from the other parts.

#### **Pilot Study**

A pilot study was necessary to clarify questions and procedures to increase research quality. I used a researcher-developed instrument, and a pilot study helped to ensure reliability and validity. The pilot study was the "testing out "of the specific instrument for this research study (Malmqvist et al., 2019). The pilot study allowed minor changes to questions to check if procedures were clear and elicited responses that provided rich data (see Malmqvist et al., 2019). The pilot study for the questionnaire and interviews were conducted with colleagues in education. I called, texted, and emailed close colleagues and asked if they would participate in the pilot study. I provided them with the link to the questionnaire on SurveyMonkey. Once they worked through the questionnaire, they filled out the information about contacting them for an interview; I then set a time for the practice interview. I used the interview protocol and followed that process until completed. I then asked for feedback and made grammatical corrections to the questionnaire and the interview process.

The pilot study was nonrandomized, as five colleagues were invited to participate, and three could complete the process from questionnaire to interview. The specific pilot testers were teachers who were asked to participate in the pilot study and were informed they were under no obligation (Lancaster & Thabane, 2019; Malmqvist et al., 2019). All pilot participants' information is stored on a thumb drive in a secure lock box. That information was not added to the final research study. The recruitment was personal invitations through email, text messaging, and phone calls to answer the questionnaire and be interviewees, which narrowed the time limits for participants' involvement in the research (Malmqvist et al., 2019). The same ethical guidelines for the primary research were applied and used for the pilot study.

## Setting

The setting for this study was Wyoming, as it is considered a rural state (U.S. Census Bureau, 2019). The parents of approximately 15,675 special education students were possible for the study (see Table 1). The number of special education teachers reported employed in 2020 was 1,220 (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2020a). The

special education teachers taught in March of 2020 when the schools closed and required the transition from in-school to online learning. During the closure, the parents of these students had to make adjustments with one or more children at home to support learning online.

# **Demographics**

Participants were required to meet specific criteria for this study. The teachers had to be special education teachers, and parents were required to have had special education students in school during the closing of schools in March of 202 in Wyoming due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Recruitment was done through social media and emails to building principals and shared with special education staff. Once the time was scheduled for the interview, I followed the protocol. The interview protocol let the participants know they could stop at any time, refuse to answer, or withdraw from the process without repercussions of any kind. Participants were given a number for confidentiality. As the social media invitation was posted for Wyoming teachers and parents, identifying information was removed from comments written in the open-ended items of the questionnaire.

## Table 3

#### *Participants*

Participant	Teacher/Parent	
P1	Parent	
P2	Parent	
P3	Teacher	
P4	Teacher	
P5	Teacher	
P6	Teacher	
P7	Comments Questionnaire	

## **Data Collection**

The data collection for this basic qualitative research started with a social media post to recruit participants on the Wyoming Education Association and the Wyoming Department of Education Facebook pages. The social media post was shared on different secondary schools' Facebook pages and Parents Helping Parents of Wyoming, Inc. The questionnaire provided the consent form and provided participants with open-ended research questions. At the end of the questionnaire, the participant could provide contact information to me for an interview. Once contact information was provided, an email was sent to set up an appointment for the interview. The interview was conducted using Zoom and an audio recorder for accuracy. The audio recording was sent to a transcription service. It then was reviewed, and corrections were made for spelling or missing words. Once the transcript was completed, I shared them with the participants for review. Once verified, the data was then uploaded into NVivo for coding.

# **Participants**

The social media invitations were posted on the Facebook sites of Parents Helping Parents of Wyoming and the Wyoming Department of Education. Other Facebook sites were the Wyoming Education Association, high schools, and junior highs in Wyoming. On the social media invitation, a link was provided to the SurveyMonkey questionnaire with open-ended research questions and a place for people to put information if they would be interviewed for the study. The interview process consisted of open-ended questions about the teacher and parent special education transition from in-classroom to online learning. The queries were written using Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) transition model variables *situation*, *self*, *support*, and *strategies*. All participants were directed to the questionnaire, which had the consent form at the beginning, by clicking on the questions they had provided consent. I offered 45 minutes for each interview and used the protocol (see Appendix A & B) for either teachers or parents. Each person was reminded that I used Zoom and an audio recorder for the interview stated in the consent form.

Zoom was helpful for time constraints and COVID-19 concerns, making face-toface interviews difficult. Once the interview was done, and the audio file was created, it was submitted to Temi, an online software company that transcribes (*Audio to Text Automatic Transcription Service & App / Temi.Com*, n.d.). I listened to the audio and worked through each transcript to check for accuracy. I added notes or comments to check for bias in understanding the information shared by participants.

# **Variations in Data Collection**

The data collection had variations from those described in the plan of Chapter 3. I had projected six special education teachers and six parents of special education students for the study. However, I could only recruit four special education teachers and two parents of special education students. The six participants provided information on the challenges of special education teachers and parents during the transition from inclassroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. In Chapter 3, it was also stated that the questionnaire would be open for one month but was open for just over two months and then closed.

## **Data Analysis**

Researchers use qualitative data analysis to develop the findings of descriptions and themes (Creswell & Guetterman, 2018). I completed the interviews using the researcher's questions that supported the topic of study (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). I began running the data by looking for keywords and phrases; doing this adds to the trustworthiness of the findings (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). The federal and state government documents provided more information and context with the research questions to understand what was happening to special education teachers and parents (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). I collected and then analyzed the data to check my understanding of the phenomena and the participants' perspectives (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). As I completed the data collection, I organized the data for analysis. The data organization allowed the tracking of an emerging understanding that focused on the process. During the collection from different participants and the preparation of data for analysis, the process established a structure that made it possible to understand the data. I then applied Creswell and Poth's (2016) steps to analyze and interpret the qualitative data. Once the data was prepared and organized, I coded the data, developed themes from the codes, and explored the themes to uncover findings. Before starting the open coding process, I listened and relistened to the audio-recorded interviews. Listening to the interviews a second and third time allowed for a better understanding of each participant's perceptions. I jotted down preliminary words associated with the research questions.

After reviewing the transcripts again, I started the open coding process to highlight words and phrases that answered the research question (RQ) and the

subquestions (SQs) to identify themes from the interviews and documents (Creswell & Poth, 2016). After highlighting the answers to the research questions in each transcript, I circled synonyms or similar phrases, looking for patterns. I highlighted any words or phrases that answered the RQ in pink, SQ1 in blue, SQ2 in green, and SQ3 in yellow for consistency of themes and categories. I made margin notes of tentative themes and categories as suggested by Creswell and Creswell (2017). The purpose of coding the data was to capture emerging themes constant throughout the data (Merriam & Grenier, 2019).

The data analysis provided an understanding of the experiences and thoughts of special education teachers and parents in their own words about the transition from inclassroom to online learning. A table was made that allowed for a visual representation that could be manipulated into phrases, themes, and findings of perceptions about the transition from in-classroom to online learning. The themes on the table revealed the participants' perceptions that transpired from their experiences and challenges during the COVID-19 pandemic shutdown of schools, which caused education to move online. The questionnaire had open-ended questions, interviews, and documents collected from the state and federal education departments, allowing for thick, rich data. Detailed information to share with readers to understand their experiences during the process. I checked the credibility and trustworthiness by having participants review the findings. I verified the data I collected by triangulating the interviews and documents against each other (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The details help establish transferability (Morse, 2015). Lodico et al. (2010) explained that researchers must check the accuracy and credibility of data collection methods. I allowed participants to review the transcripts and provide any feedback, allowing them to reflect and comment decreases the interpretation of data incorrectly (Creswell & Creswell, 2017; Morse, 2015).

I could improve the validity of the data collected by dealing with discrepant data that did not fit dominant themes and patterns. If there had been any discrepant cases, I would have examined them in more detail to determine why they differed and note the stand-alone findings. The discrepant case would be coded and categorized separately. There were no discrepant cases registered during data collection.

# Findings

As I completed the data analysis, I identified, examined, and interpreted the patterns and themes. The process provided an opportunity to see how the patterns and themes helped answer the research questions (Lodico et al., 2010). In this section, I will share the patterns and themes that emerged from the data collection. I discovered two themes for SQ1 and two themes for SQ2 and SQ3. These five themes responded to the three questions and the problem that prompted this study. Below, I discuss the findings and give examples to support the collected data's results. I used pseudonyms to refer to the participants as I shared their perceptions and views.

The problem which prompted this study is the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming. The specific gap for this research is the individualized needs of students with disabilities and the challenges of how teachers and parents support the transition from in-classroom to online learning (Crouse et al., 2018; Petretto et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020). The research questions formed the basis for the interview (Appendix A & B).

The research question for this study was: What challenges were experienced to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities by secondary special education teachers' and parents' to support the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming? The additional subquestions that were conducive to this basic qualitative research:

SQ1 How do teachers and parents in Wyoming describe the transition experience from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic?

SQ2 What adjustments were made by special education teachers and parents in Wyoming with the instructional *supports* in place when the transition from inclassroom to online learning for students with disabilities occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic?

SQ3 What changes or *supports* would help special education teachers and parents in Wyoming transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the future like a pandemic?

The themes developed from the data responded to the research questions and the study's problem. I searched the transcribed interviews, field notes, and research journals for relevant data such as repeating similarities and phrases. I grouped words by exact matches and synonyms, which helped identify the phrases.

# Table 4

Research Questions	Theme	Theme Statements
<b>SQ1:</b> How do teachers and parents in Wyoming describe the transition experience from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic?	<b>SQ1a:</b> Dissatisfaction with closing procedures	SQ1a: Found it a little frustrating; it was very, very difficult; I was not happy with how the lockdown was handled; honestly, it sucked; it was rough.
	<b>SQ1b:</b> To use Canvas or not to use Canvas	SQ1b: Make use of the email for families not comfortable with Canvas; [time] to allow teachers to get their online Canvas pages up; printing out pages and learning stuff and putting [it] in a packet; no interactive parts in Canvas.
<b>SQ2:</b> What adjustments were made by special education teachers and parents in Wyoming with the instructional <i>supports</i> in place when the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic	<b>SQ2a:</b> Lack of strategic accessible communication	SQ2a: Not knowing how long just getting extended and extended; what [was] the school district going to be providing; there wasn't much of a plan; an email wait and not to contact families yet; it was a lot of questions about our special ed kids.
	<b>SQ2b:</b> "Let me count the ways" the challenges and/or the lack of support	SQ2b: "Having to make my children be on the computer"; "are we gonna be able to accommodate"; issues with computer and internet; trial and error; behavioral needs; how to measure goals and meetings for IEPs.
<b>SQ3:</b> What changes or supports would help special education teachers and parents in Wyoming transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the future like a pandemic?	<b>SQ3:</b> The personal connection with active engagement	SQ3: The live format was much more engaging; just being able to visually see her para; para to meet with us

Themes and Theme Statements

## **Theme 1: Dissatisfaction with Closing Procedures**

Snow days have been built into the Wyoming school calendar for many years, meaning those days were used when the school could not open due to weather. Anything past those days would be added to the end of the school year or made into Saturday school to make up the seat time or personal teacher contact time (State of Wyoming Regulations, n.d.). The situation with COVID-19 was much different. The state regulations section had to make an emergency exception as there would be no way to make up the time out of school. The concerns voiced about nothing being in place and no emergency plans for others who took part in the study came up many times.

When the schools close in March of 2020, it was essential to understand what happened to the participants (Wyoming Department of Education, 2019b). Both special education teachers and parents felt "unprepared for the closing." According to P1 and P2, it was an issue of "had to figure it out." P1 commented, "I think that was just because nobody was prepared for this," with P2's comment of "just caught off guard and not prepared." Part of the emergency plan was to provide paper packets to those who requested them, as some families did not want to deal with Canvas. Other concerns were that remote learning plans were not developed until the schools were closed.

P3 said, "I don't feel like there was much of a plan," and "it was a punt more than a plan." P4 thought, "...it was somewhat chaotic. I felt there were mixed messages." P5 explained, "we're making this quick, fast shift over, and you got a week ... for moving from in-class in persona to online." "There was no smooth transition," P5 felt, "it was very haphazard." And added that it was "not well thought out on any level." P6 was told to "set up a Canvas page with work for students." Comments from the questionnaire "It varied considerably. Students with strong supports at home tended to keep up. Students whose mental and emotional wellbeing was affected by the closure did not do well, per [their] experience." Another questionnaire comment about the closing, "Nothing. It was, call them, try to Zoom them if you can. 'It is a Pandemic. We can only do what we can do.' Did not agree with this approach."

## Theme 2: Lack of Strategic Accessible Communication

After notices of closures from the federal and state level, each school district notified the parents of how the school proceeded. The school information was shared with families using the district website, a phone call system used for snow days. There were local news channels and other communication forms. Their buildings contacted the special education teachers, and each received direction from there. P1 said of their special education teacher and para, "they were both in contact with [both students] every day." According to P1, having consistent communication with the special education teacher or para, just "talk to them and see another human face," was helpful. P2 felt that the special education department was" much more responsive in terms of trying to help us." The student being able to see the para provided "encouragement." P2 was "talked through using Canvas and how we would go about the online portion." P3 was told, "our district has this, so we're gonna use this." P5 said there were "a lot of questions about, well, what about our special ed kids." Furthermore, P5 stated, "it was a lot of lack of answers."

The teacher participants shared that they were ready to start contacting their special education families only to be told to wait. According to P6, the direction was "...

to call parents and see if they would be okay with their students doing an in-class time with me because of that need for hands-on" at the pandemic's start. P6 says,

"I didn't think that was a great idea. I mean, from the standpoint of [giving] them the support, and that's a great idea, but with the pandemic, um, actually having students coming into the school and be that close together was probably the worst idea ever."

Another supervisor over the first supervisor told P6, "No, what were they thinking." "And so, then we went back, had to go back and call all the parents, which of course, cause you know, some frustration with parents who were, you know, really accepting having their students come into the school." P5 talked about IEPs and ILPs and their yearly reviews and three-year evaluations. The multidisciplinary evaluation team (MDT) could not be conducted as there were many questions about what would be legally accepted. Participants' concerns about accomplishing these meetings and what needed to happen to make these meetings possible were not answered. It took time, P5 said, "until we actually got some straight answers from admin and from like the state ... yes, you need to have these and [this is] how."

# Theme 3: To Canvas or Not To Canvas

Schools in Wyoming were purchasing a web-based learning management system (LMS) called Canvas. Since the distance education task force was created, Canvas has been part of the Virtual Education Legislation (Wyoming Legislature, 2015). Canvas has become Wyoming's official LMS (Wyoming Department of Education, n.d.). The teachers interviewed for this study said Wyoming schools provided time to get Canvas

pages created and usable for students. Still, during this time, it was apparent that Canvas did not support particular aspects of student IEPs.

Even with each district having Canvas, it had not been fully implemented with the accommodations available for special education students during the regular school year. P3 supports this by stating, "different accommodations that we just hadn't accessed before." P3 also shared about providing other resources for the students to use to support learning, "this is how you can get this to read aloud to you." It was P5 that said, "well, these are the accommodations that we can provide since it's not in person," but it was P3's comment, "we are to have our lessons on Canvas."

Under Part B of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), there are 14 recognized disabilities. There are also two classifications of students in each of these 14 areas: mild to moderate disabilities and severe/multiple disabilities (IDEA (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act), 2019; SpecialEduCareers.com, 2018; *Teaching Special Education*, n.d.). The part of this transition from in-classroom to online learning did not consider the needs of these students with disabilities. P1 shared that it was difficult "trying to figure out how to use all the programs we're supposed to be using in the GenEd classroom was pretty hard." These were not even the special education items the student would need to support their IEP. P2 shared that one child did not work for the other. P2 went on to share:

"the different types of educational methods, the different types of strategies, the familiarity with the product, all of that stuff, I was, we were just automatically thrown into [this] with really very little experience. And so, yeah, it was, it was challenging."

The teachers shared that they were to have the same expectation as classroom teachers and have lessons and learning materials in Canvas for student access. Again, special education teachers who had students with mild-to-moderate disabilities had different challenges than those teachers providing services to students with severe/multiple disabilities. All teacher participants stated they created paper/pencil packets even with Canvas material. P3 had some students find that online learning was working for them. P4 noted that they "[made] use of the email for families who were not comfortable with Canvas." P3 and P5 had students that were wanting paper/pencil. P6's class, students were not using Canvas but other learning programs and paper/pencil packets even with lessons in Canvas.

# Theme 4: The Challenges and/or the Lack of Support

P1 "I don't think any adjustments were made" for their students' learning. P1 shared that "both [students] are a lot more anxious, and they have a hard time with transitions." P1 felt "the expectations from the gen ed [general education] were just the same for every student across the board, whether they were getting support or not." P2 explained that "reading comprehension and then their composition afterward" "I don't feel like was modified" from the general education teacher. "We struggled. I mean, we would, we would spend several hours, you know, kept coming back to this same assignment and just struggled." P2 "it was just kind of rigid."

"There was a lot more support that [the student] was getting in person than online." P2 shared that they asked a grandparent to assist with the learning online.

The teachers' lack of support and challenges were in P3, P4, and P5's attempts to have IEP/ILP meetings. P3 took issue with "holding IEP meetings," "... progress notes," and" gathered data and tracked progress." There were those students "that weren't getting any instruction, let alone accommodations." "There were a handful that, you know, if we're just lacking some basic needs, so we would bring them food and, and those kinds of things," P4 frustration was "the sense of bureaucracy." The back and forth of direction, "the lack of behavioral support," and "a lack of direct contact was more, was more of a concern." P5 echoed some of the above items while adding, "trying to get ahold of some of our parents." "Meeting that really didn't do any good." The struggles of community members, "helping the parent remember how to do a lot of these mathematical operations and problem-solving pieces." One of the concerns was textbooks or using a software program to read the text online. P5 also shared, "how are we going to make sure this child is getting their service." "The parent has to coordinate with the, you know, the speech-language therapist, the occupational therapist, the physical therapist, the counselor, the social worker in how to try to address these needs." P5 said, "I know for several of my students [they kept] dropping off the radar," as they could not reach the student. P6 had parents struggle stating, "what's the point" or "this is ridiculous." P6 shared that provider were "at the mercy of the [student] on the other end of the computer connection," as the student may have walked away.

#### Theme 5: Positive Connections, Engagement, and Recognition

The information from the parent participants shows they were active members in their students' learning. P1 communicated with their special education teacher or para "in touch with them every day, whether it was [to] work on something, or just talk to them." P1 felt "they could check-in and make sure they were able to do what they were supposed to do and to get the help that they need." P1 "even just like a mental health check with them [students]." "They were really great about that." P2 said, "the [Teacher] actually, and I just remember this, she was, she made videos for us to watch of her every day, some of her different speech-language exercises."

The P3 had "several students realize that online learning was their jam!" Others, according to P3, made those connections when telling students, "Firefox can read this aloud to you better than I can." And then, "accessing those a little be more and building some more independence." P3 shared, "most kids that were able to wanted to meet daily." P4 indicated, "I was making frequent contact with families, which was good." P4 wanted to acknowledge that "parents and grandparents or guardians shall we say, kinda stepped up and became teachers themselves." P4 said, "they were doing a large part of our job for us at that time." P5 "The other thing I did a lot with several of my students was I set up standing appointments to sit down and talk with them." P6 shared how they "went to a couple of houses just to, you know, meet the parents in the yard with a laptop and kind of go over how they do the lessons."

## **Discrepant Cases**

Overall, the participants felt that transitioning from in-classroom to online learning was difficult during the COVID-19 pandemic. Discrepancies were not evident due to detailed and extended responses during data collection. During this process, I realized that the time between the schools closing and when I interviewed participants may have been too long. The questions may have solicited more details that would have been possible had the interviews taken place closer to that time.

## **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

Once all the data was collected and analyzed, it was triangulated by comparing data sets to verify the validity of the initial findings. The data was cross-checked with less noticeable results and potential bias by comparing the different data sources. The findings revealed that the participant's responses to the interview questions correspond to the questionnaire answers. While participants responded differently to both data collection forms, the emerging themes were still compared.

I conducted Zoom interviews, and participants were asked if they felt safe participating in the process after school hours. I recorded all interviews with a voice recorder and submitted them to the transcription service. Once the transcription was complete, I listened to the audio and checked its accuracy. I provided the participant with time to think and then answered the questions.

I listened to the participants' perceptions and beliefs clearly and allowed time to record thoughts about follow-up questions or if questions were answered. During this review, I noticed that I had failed to ask a probing question that may have provided even more information and details to a question in one instance. I did notice that overall, the questions created allowed for in-depth responses, which covered the probing questions from the participants without being prompted. The developed interview process allowed participants to provide more valuable, rich answers.

Using the two forms of data, interviews, and the state guidelines for providing special education and services during the COVID-19 pandemic helped to understand the recurring themes (Wyoming Department of Education, 2020b). I analyzed the data by reading and color-coding answers. Then re-coded the data to the recurring themes. I provided a copy of the findings through email to participants for member checking to ensure I had accurately interpreted their perceptions. Participants had time to read and respond to the conclusions projected. Each had an opportunity to visit about the findings if they felt the need.

#### Summary

In this section, I present the three study findings connected with the researches data and current literature: (a) teachers and parents in Wyoming describe the transitions experience from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic, (b) the adjustments made by special education teachers and parents in Wyoming with the instructional supports in place when the transition from inclassroom to online learning occurred, and (c) the changes or supports that would help special education teachers and parents in Wyoming for students with disabilities during the transitioning from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the future.

# Finding 1

The first finding concerning participants in Wyoming and their experiences transitioning from in-classroom to online agreed that the COVID-19 pandemic closing was frustrating. Due to weather, school closing in the past has been part of the education regulations for years. Remediations were provided to make up seat time or teacher contact time when schools closed for the weather. There were emergency plans for the weather but no plan for a pandemic (Akin & Gözel, 2020; Maher, 2020). The parent participants shared the emergency plans in place now for transitions.

The teacher participants were more critical of their district's plan and concerned about the lack of guidance or no one person in a leadership position providing a plan for proceeding. As participants used terms of "mixed messages," "haphazard," and were told, "It is a Pandemic. We can only do what we can do," these statements identify feelings of not being prepared for the transition from in-classroom to online learning as well as the kind of communication occurring at this time (Aguilar, 2020; Asare et al., n.d.; Hodges et al., 2020; Kim & Asbury, 2020; Lemay et al., 2021).

# Finding 2

The second finding indicated the adjustments that special education teachers and parents in Wyoming would be experiencing. The first go-to point for schools was relying on the Canvas software. Participants spoke about the varying abilities of computer skills, student ability, and the appropriateness of the learning management system (LMS) for all special education students. Even with time to prepare to meet students online, the participants identified difficulties.
Participant P2 summed it up as "the different types of educational methods, the different types of strategies, the familiarity with the product...." Canvas was the adjustment relied on to provide learning for all students. With the number of identified disabilities according to IDEA, the Canvas expectations for the mild/moderate students, people still had to be reminded of accommodations (Wyoming Department of Education, 2020b). There were supports provided, which according to P3, "we just hadn't accessed before." This has changed for P5, "it's pretty much what I do now is make sure that kids know how to access like the assistive tech tools." A new way of thinking is to make sure special education students have what they need that is appropriate to support learning.

# Finding 3

The third finding offers information about what changes or supports Wyoming special education teachers and parents found that supported the transition from inclassroom to online learning for future school closings. The information about communication and how participants shared their experiences was an interesting piece. P1 and P2 expressed that the positive interactions with their special education teachers and paraprofessionals were the most important for their students. The contact provided their students with someone to "talk to them and see another human face." The school week contact supplied time for special education teachers and paras to check in with students to understand learning goals, provide encouragement, and even just a mental health check-in (Ameis et al., 2020; Justis et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020). P2 felt that the special education staff were "much more responsive in terms of trying to help us." For the special education teachers, it was clear communication from leadership. The teacher participants working with the mild/moderate students felt that communicating with them and making that contact helped some students. One point that a couple of the participants stated was the need for software that would work for special education students. P3 worried that "really no platform that was available to us had anything that was interactive." The other point to come up was the lack of technology for all students. The need for one-to-one technology, internet access, and lack of reliable connections impeded learning (Alea et al., 2020; Dube, 2020; Giovannella et al., 2020). When the COVID-19 pandemic closed schools, a few places in Wyoming still needed the one-to-one technology.

## **Connection of Findings to Conceptual Framework**

I based the conceptual framework for this study on Schlossberg's transition model (1981). The conceptual framework of Schlossberg's transition model outlines the concept involved in the forced moving from one life event to another. Schlossberg (1981) identified the four transition variables (a) *situation*, (b) *self*, (c) *social support*, and (d) *strategies*. In this study, the *situation* was the forced transition between in-classroom to online learning due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The participants shared their frustration over how the closing occurred and how the schools' lockdown was handled identified in the first theme. The participants shared how unhappy they were with the lack of specific communication during the closure, and there were several persons providing different directives.

The next variable of Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) is *self*. In this study, the participants shared personal feelings. They felt transitioning from in-classroom to online

was difficult for them and their families. The *self* variable not only reflected what was happening to participants during the closure but, the lack of a plan for the school closing. There was a perception that caused anger about no one listening to them about their concern for students. For participants during this transition, they found they were spending more time working and trying to provide for their students in theme three.

The *social support* of Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) transition permitted parent participants to share how they received support from their special education teachers and paraeducators during the closing ties to theme five. The parent participants felt they had better responses from these persons than any other. The *social support* they received was in the form of daily contact with either special education teachers or the para. They checked in with their student and family to provide a face to visit with them about schoolwork or even a mental health check-in to see how students were doing.

The final variable is the *strategies* of Schlossberg et al. (1995). The participants shared how they used and tried to accommodate students with disabilities using Canvas or paper/pencil. The participants also made house calls, phone calls, and zoom appointments to ensure students got support. These were themes three and four examples of how the participants could cope.

# Conclusion

I addressed the research question and three sub-questions by capturing the perceptions of special education teachers and parents in Wyoming to meet the needs of students with disabilities when transitioning from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. The three sub-questions related to the participant's perceptions of events during the COVID-19 pandemic closing of schools in Wyoming. The research questions helped focus the study so that I could conduct valuable conversations with the participants about individual experiences during the transition (Kross & Giust, 2019; Study Higher, 2020). The interviews using the research questions allowed for a better understanding of the topic.

In Finding 1, the participants were upset and frustrated with schools closing due to the pandemic. There was concern that there would be no way to make up the time as there was with winter weather. There was also criticism of a lack of planning or direction. Directives were coming from several different areas on how services were provided and how participants from this study would proceed during the closure.

In Finding 2, I indicated that adjustments for special education teachers and parents in Wyoming relied on Canvas as the state learning management system (LMS) for all special education students. The adjustments were not supportive for all student learning as some families and students preferred paper/pencil to Canvas or had difficulty accessing and using Canvas. As the state LMS, content teachers had to be reminded that special education students still needed accommodations. In Canvas, some support was provided for students who needed assistance in reading. Still, the tools were not accessed in the classroom for students to know how to use them.

In Finding 3, regular communication between special education teachers and families is essential. Participants shared that check-in to see how the student is progressing and what support is needed became important. At times it was as simple as a call checking in and seeing how the student and family are doing or if help with an

assignment is necessary. It is also important to remember that students have different needs for different abilities. Canvas could not provide for these different abilities as there were no interactive parts for participants to work one-on-one with students. The other programs used by special education students were difficult to provide. The Canvas lessons were focused on instead of what was best for the student. I was able to identify these suggestions to support future transitions from in-classroom to online learning for special education teachers and parents.

I learned from participants that even with the unexpected transition from inclassroom to online learning due to COVID-19, there were opportunities to learn from other events that have delayed or closed schooling. I also discovered that participants would like precise direction and leadership decisions without multiple people trying to make decisions. Participants also provided insights not considered about different usable or appropriate LMS for special education students. Using LMS for special education students is essential to teaching students and families how to use the software and tools. Another item learned from this process was the importance of meeting with special education students regularly and making sure to keep that schedule. One item that continues to be an issue of concern is that technology is one-to-one, and there needs to be a way for connectivity consistency.

The current findings captured the special education teachers' and parents' perceptions of transitioning from in-classroom to online learning. The literature review will be used about special education in Wyoming and how transitions met the needs of special education teachers and parents during the COVID-19 pandemic. I will draw information from the results and literature review to provide more details on suggestions that could be implemented to support transitions from in-classroom to online learning. In Chapter 5, the interpretation of the findings, limitations of the study, recommendations and implications, and then the conclusion. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to examine the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities and identify future supports for this kind of transition to online learning. The study focused on Wyoming during the COVID-19 pandemic (see Akin & Gözel, 2020; Maher, 2020; PBS News Hour & Wyoming PBS, 2020). The investigation revealed frustration at how schools were closed, lack of strategic accessible communication, issues with the selected LMS as teachers used Canvas, and support students when there were difficulties with using the software or teaching the lesson. There was some good found in the way parents of special education students said their teachers worked to make connections and special education teachers wanted to recognize the work parents were asked to do to support their students. In Chapter 5, a summary of findings presented, including comparisons to Schlossberg et al.'s theory and the literature related to the transition experiences from in-classroom to online for special education teachers and parents. Limitations of the study, recommendations, implications for future research, and a conclusion.

#### **Interpretation of the findings**

The interview questions were used to research the gap in the literature regarding the individualized needs of students with disabilities and the challenges of how teachers and parents supported that transition from in-classroom to online learning. The research question was: What challenges were experienced to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities by secondary special education teachers and parents to support the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming? From the overarching questions, three subquestions were developed for the study. The interview questions developed were to provide in-depth data concerning participants' perceptions during the COVID-19 closing of schools. I explored what insights special education teachers and parents offered for possible improvements.

The research questions incorporated Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) variables associated with transitions: *situations, self, social supports, and strategies*. The first research was based on the first two variables: *situations* and *self*. The inciting issue was the COVID-19 pandemic which was the phenomenon that caused the transition for teachers and families to online learning for their students with disabilities (Engelhard, 1991). The *self* was how the special education teachers and parents felt about the challenges of the transition due to COVID-19. The following variable was *social support*—the person's well-being related to the transition to online and the assistance in place to learn. The last was *strategies* for changing, reframing, and managing stress after the event. Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) theory describe how people deal with changes that occur, the adaption process, and how they depend on access to resources and supports that were in place at the time of the transition.

The COVID-19 pandemic presented a unique situation in which schools were closed to slow or stop the spread of the virus (Akin & Gözel, 2020; CDC, 2021; Maher, 2020). The *situation*'s urgency expedited the need for the transition to online learning (Maher, 2020; Schlossberg et al., 1995). The participants felt there were no emergency plans or few ideas about accomplishing the transition from in-classroom to online. Like other studies (Das et al., 2020; Lemay et al., 2021; Nasr, 2020; Van Nuland et al., 2020), participants were uncertain about how the transition would work, and comments like "rough," "frustrated," "very difficult," "not happy with how it was handled," and "it was a drop of the hat" were used. Another *situational* issue was technology and connectivity, the same issues identified in this study and expressed in the previous studies. Special education teachers shared "that several students that did not have a phone or did not have a computer basically disappeared." In further confirming comments from the questionnaire, "issues with technology if they had them," "no access to tech. No internet," and "connectivity issues – the digital divide – the largest and hardest to overcome." During the COVID-19 pandemic, researchers worldwide studied the transition to online, and the similarities in these studies were students' access to the internet, access to devices, and the cost of the internet (Alea et al., 2020; Dube, 2020; Giovannella et al., 2020).

Another part of Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) concept of the *situation* during the COVID-19 pandemic was the issue of school closures in rural Wyoming. In other studies, it was not just the aspects of technology that caused issues with shutdown; these issues were associated in a few of the studies with rural locals. It was this identification of rural that I focused on Wyoming. It is a large state covering 97,813 square miles with a population of 576,851 as of 2020 (Wyoming | Capital, Map, Population, History, & Facts | Britannica, n.d.). The state is the least populated, with only two significant cities identified as metropolitan, Casper, and Cheyenne. The rest of the state has 173 small towns with populations from 32,857 (Gillette and Laramie) to 0 (Buford) (Barroga, 2020;

Gaille, 2019). In Wyoming, the small population contributed to the distance between homes and schools, as well as winter weather interrupting or impacting services and student learning. Over the years, snow days had been built into the school calendar. Anything past those days would be added to the end of the school year or made into Saturday school for seat or teacher contact time (State of Wyoming Regulations, n.d.). The COVID-19 pandemic differed from the winter weather regulations for Wyoming schools, so another approach was needed to meet the student's educational goals. Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *situation* variable was a negative experience for special education teachers and parents.

The *self* variable of Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) theory was how the special education teachers and parents made adjustments. In this study, I was able to identify some of these inner coping items as participants were working to make adjustments to support student learning in multiple ways being, online, on paper/pencil, in textbooks, or in any other way (Jameson et al., 2019; Lovitz et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020). I learned that parents had the burden of purchasing P1 "a second laptop" as students would be online and worked to coordinate time schedules and collect manipulatives, textbooks, or other materials from teachers. Special education teachers collected educational materials to deliver to students and families to support learning as not all students and families wanted or could work online.

A few teachers made house calls and "meet the parents in the yard with a laptop" to go over materials. Another shared how they "would occasionally make home visits to stop in," Checking "if they're just lacking some basic needs, so we would bring them food and those kinds of things, not because ... we were asked to by the school, but because we're good humans and we knew that they needed things." These concerns connected to Das et al.'s (2020) study, which identified concerns with socioeconomic issues. In the studies of Frederick et al. (2020), Jameson et al. (2020), and Smith (2020), it was these educators who were laboring to make distance learning work for their students with disabilities.

I identified some perceptions of the difficulties in meeting the requirements of a student's IEP or ILP using Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *self* variable research (Anderson et al., 2020; Baber, 2020; Carpenter & Dunn, 2021; Wang, 2020). One parent did not think adjustments were made, while the other felt P2 "a lot of things were allowed to let slide." P5 stated that "all of the in-person accommodations that were given to our students pretty much were put on hold. The participants did not feel students were getting "the same quality of education" that they received in-classroom. In the studies of Jameson et al. (2019), Lovitz et al. (2020), and Tremmel et al. (2020), it was the school's responsibility to provide multiple access types for instruction.

In the studies for Das et al. (2020), Lemay et al. (2021), Nasr (2020), and Van Nuland et al. (2020), they identified the uncertainty of how the transition from inclassroom to online would work. I was able to identify this uncertainty in the participants' perceptions of the transition of schooling, which is associated with Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) *social support* variable. According to participants, the social support for this transition was confusing as there were many questions about what would happen, how long, and what the schools would provide. In this study, sharing information was not an issue for the parents. They felt they could get a hold of their special education teachers. The problem for teachers was the lack of non-specific direction from leadership as they moved to rely on the learning management system (LMS) Canvas for all education.

The teacher participants in this study said their buildings were to use Canvas to transition to online. Like Kinard and Mahaffey's (2020) study, teachers in this study felt they were left on their own to use Canvas and create learning content for students. Some of the teacher participants said there were pieces of training available in how to work in Canvas. The questionnaire showed concern about "lack of proficiency in your own skills," "teaching style has been changed," "teaching time has been changed," and "teaching content has been adjusted." These were new for teachers as the traditional teaching models are for in-classroom learning, and now teachers that had been working this way for many years were expected to change to an online style, which Kim and Asbury (2020) found in their study. The teaching time left "time for students to study on their own," while the style had to "encourage students to study independently." The adjustment becomes "online tutor" or student "self-learning."

The expectation for teachers was to use Canvas to teach students. Van Nuland et al.'s (2020) study shares that professional development for online learning was needed, and in this study, the teacher participants felt there was no appropriate training for Canvas. There is a need for targeted training for special education teachers on how to teach either using Canvas or teaching in an online environment. Canvas is the LMS of choice in Wyoming, but in combination with Petrerro et al.'s (2020) opinion, using a Universal Design for Learning (UDL) may provide the needed framework for online learning for students with disabilities. Tucker's (1983) paper about the 1982 court ruling in the Board of Education of Hendrick Hudson Central School District v. Rawley states that special education programs must be individualized for students to meet their unique needs. The teacher interviewees shared their preparation to provide equal educational opportunities using paper/pencil, emails, and the LMS Canvas. Like other studies (Jameson et al., 2019; Lovitz et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020), some students and families did not want to deal with technology and selected what would work for them working with their special education teacher.

Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) last variable is *strategies* dealing with coping skills. It was how the participants shared positive items from the COVID-19 transition from inclassroom to online that I felt was changing the situation. Parents interviewed felt the best communication was between their special education teachers and the paraprofessionals that worked with their students, similar to Tremmel et al.'s (2020) study. The parents said that the interactions with their students provided positive opportunities to check on student progress and support the student when needed. In some instances, it was the teaching of family members so they could provide support for students. Parents express dissatisfaction with the sporadic communication of others associated with their students' learning. The teacher participants wanted to acknowledge the parents' work, saying, "I think that families are not necessarily getting the credit that some of them deserve," noting the new roles as monitors, facilitators, and correcting negative student behavior. The last part of the variable *strategies* is reframing the situation and managing the stress. In this study, it was the comments from the parent participants that they felt better with

the transition. They have had to transition online several times since the initial COVID-19 pandemic, and they felt there was support, which worked for them. The special education teacher participants shared that there are plans in place for another closing, but there are still many issues about providing for students with special education needs.

## **Limitations of the Study**

The focus of this study was to obtain honest answers from participants; however, they may have provided the information they felt would benefit the study (Creswell & Poth, 2016). To prevent potential bias, I tried to ask questions that were not leading. I used an interview protocol and presented it the same to each participant. Each participant was sent their transcript to check their responses with an opportunity to make corrections or clarifications. The interview protocol helped keep bias to a minimum as it was the same presentation with each participant.

Other limitations were the study's location, participant demographics, and sample size. The study was done in Wyoming, identified as a rural state. All participants had to be secondary special education teachers and parents that lived in Wyoming during the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. The sample size was two parents of special education students and four special education teachers. The study location and participant numbers may limit the transferability to larger populations.

## Recommendations

This study focused on the transition experience with closing procedures and Canvas. The adjustments during the COVID-19 closer with communication and the lack of support and challenges. Finally, what changes or supports were available. I determined that more research is needed based on the finding and the review of current literature.

This basic qualitative study about the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities should be duplicated for the elementary level. Future research is needed to learn what changes or supports are in place when school closes. What training is in place to support teacher and family use of Canvas in special education. Research is needed on the types of communication that worked best for student engagement and adjustments in services provided between in-classroom and online (Tremmel et al., 2020). Understanding special education teachers' concerns for different LMS and taking suggestions on interactive tools that would support student learning may provide a starting point for a transfer to larger populations.

Two particular concerns related but not part of this study were those older special education students those teachers were unable to contact and students that just disappeared. If there was no way to communicate with them or living situations were not supportive, students did not engage or did no work. Further studies are needed into what happened to these students during the closure of schools during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Recommendations that can support a transition from in-classroom to online when a situation similar to the COVID-19 pandemic happens is targeted training on how to use an online forum to teach (Van Nuland et al., 2020). Schools and online technology should support special education teachers in creating a universal design for learning lessons that can be used in the classroom and online (Petrerro et al., 2020). Teachers need to shift from being the person in the front of the room to a facilitator of learning. They should allow students to take on the role of self directed learners. Ensure there is technology available for all special education students and that families know how to use it and support engagement with the programs available. It is also important for students' families to have multiple ways of providing those resources, such as the alternative technology tools used in school (Jameson et al., 2019; Lovitz et al., 2020; Tremmel et al., 2020).

## Implications

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to examine the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities and identify future supports for this kind of transition to online learning. The collection of data and the research questions, how do teachers and parents describe the transition experience from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic? What adjustments were made by special education teachers and parents with the instructional supports in place when the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic? What changes or *supports* would help special education teachers and parents transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the future like a pandemic? The findings can explain the participants' perceptions during the closing of schools during COVID-19. Participants provided suggestions of what worked for them during this time and expressed concerns about what they felt was missing. The study size was limited to

Wyoming, considered a rural state even with two large cities. The information from this study can provide insight into what to look at for improvements.

#### **Positive Social Change**

The study was to learn about the perceptions of special education teachers and parents during the transition. Since this study, there have been other variants of COVID-19 that may cause another occasion for schools to shut down to slow the spread of the virus. Positive social change is possible by using the information from this study to implement new policies with communication, LMS software applicable to special education student needs, technology limitations, and looking for more interactive options for students can provide a positive resource for all students and teachers. Changes that can work for students with special needs are beneficial for all students.

#### **Conceptual Implications**

The basic qualitative study examined the challenges of secondary special education teachers and parents during the transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities. The findings allowed special education teachers and parents to explain what worked for them and their students during the transition. I used Schlossberg et al.'s transition model that "focuses on life events entailing change" (Schlossberg et al., 1995, p. 18). It was the change occurring when schools closed their doors and transitioned to an online learning environment that I used Schlossberg et al.'s (1995) model. I was able to understand better the parent and special education teacher participants' perceptions of the transition and understand it was not just one or two items that were many aspects of concern. All the participants expressed their feelings about the haphazard transition. The parents and teacher participants did their best to work within the school closure situation. Supports for online learning were not considered before the pandemic, but all participants provided strategies that did work and strategies for future consideration of transitions.

#### Conclusion

The study was designed to explore the perceptions of two parents and four special education teachers and their transition from in-classroom to online learning. Parents expressed their views about Canvas and the technical problems they had to overcome, but the parents spoke highly of the special education teachers and how their interaction and support were helpful. The concerns from teachers about the administration not understanding the different aspects of special education and the expectation that one software would meet all students' needs were shared. The study will demonstrate the importance of working to meet these individualized needs of students. The study results may inform leaders of the importance of having special education providers share their concerns to help look for and provide support in the future.

#### References

- 80+ Special Education Quotes To Inspire Students And Teachers. (n.d.). <u>https://kidadl.com/quotes/special-education-quotes-to-inspire-students-and-</u> teachers
- Adams, G., & Todd, M. (2020). Meeting the school-age child care needs of working parents facing COVID-19 distance learning: Policy options to consider. *Urban Institute*. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED610005</u>
- Adjei, M., Pels, N. N. A., & Amoako, V. N. D. (2021). Responding to Covid-19: experiences of Ashesi University's student affairs team. *Journal of Student Affairs in Africa*, 9(1), 135–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.24085/jsaa.v9i1.1433</u>
- adminlp2m. (2020). Qualitative research methods—Objectives, characteristics and strategies. *LP2M Universitas Medan Area*. <u>https://lp2m.uma.ac.id/qualitative-</u> <u>research-methods-objectives-characteristics-and-strategies/</u>
- Aguilar, S. J. (2020). A research-based approach for evaluating resources for transitioning to teaching online. *Information and Learning Sciences*, *121*(5/6), 301–310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ILS-04-2020-0072</u>
- Akay, C. (2020). In-service teachers' resistance to technology: A qualitative metasynthesis by ENTREQ statement (1998-2018). *International Journal of Education Technology and Scientific Research*, 5(12), 924–944. https://doi.org/10.35826/ijetsar.154

- Akin, L., & Gözel, M. G. (2020). Understanding dynamics of pandemics. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 50(SI-1), 515–519. <u>https://doi.org/10.3906/sag-2004-133</u>
- Al Lily, A. E., Ismail, A. F., Abunasser, F. M., & Alhajhoj Alqahtani, R. H. (2020).
   Distance education as a response to pandemics: Coronavirus and Arab culture.
   *Technology in Society*, 63, 101317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2020.101317
- Al-Ataby, A. (2020). Technology-enhanced learning and teaching in COVID-19 era: Challenges and recommendations. *International Journal for Innovation Education* and Research, 8(10), 317–331. <u>https://doi.org/10.31686/ijier.vol8.iss10.2684</u>
- Albert Einstein Quotes. (n.d.). BrainyQuote.

https://www.brainyquote.com/quotes/albert\_einstein\_502391

- Alea, L. A., Fabrea, M. F., Roldan, R. D. A., & Farooqi, A. Z. (2020). Teachers' COVID-19 awareness, distance learning education experiences and perceptions towards institutional readiness and challenges. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Research*, 19(6), 127–144. https://doi.org/10.26803/ijlter.19.6.8
- Alhumaid, K., Ali, S., Waheed, A., Zahid, E., & Habes, M. (2020). COVID-19 & elearning: Perceptions & attitudes of teachers towards E-Learning acceptance in the developing countries. *Multicultural Education*, 6(2), 100-115.
  <a href="http://ijdri.com/me/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/13.pdf">http://ijdri.com/me/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/13.pdf</a>
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4060121">https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4060121</a>

Almaiah, M. A., Al-Khasawneh, A., & Althunibat, A. (2020). Exploring the critical challenges and factors influencing the E-learning system usage during COVID-19 pandemic. *Education and Information Technologies*, 25(6), 5261–5280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10219-y

Almanasreh, E., Moles, R., & Chen, T. F. (2019). Evaluation of methods used for estimating content validity. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 15(2), 214–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2018.03.066</u>

Ameis, S. H., Lai, M.-C., Mulsant, B. H., & Szatmari, P. (2020). Coping, fostering resilience, and driving care innovation for autistic people and their families during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. *Molecular Autism*, 11(1), 1–9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-020-00365-y">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-020-00365-y</a>

Americans with Disabilities Act, Pub. L. No. 101–336, 104 Stat. 328. (1990).

Anderson, J. R., Hughes, J. L., & Trivedi, M. H. (2020). School personnel and parents' concerns related to COVID-19 pandemic's impact related to schools. *School Psychology Review 50*(4), 519-529.

https://doi.org/10.1080/2372966x.2020.1862626

Anderson, S. E., & Putman, R. S. (2020). Special education teachers' experience, confidence, beliefs, and knowledge about integrating technology. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 35(1), 37–50.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0162643419836409

Asare, A. O., Yap, R., Truong, N., & Sarpong, E. O. (n.d.). The pandemic semesters: Examining public opinion regarding online learning amidst COVID-19. *Journal*  of Computer Assisted Learning, 37(6), 1591–1605.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12574

- Asim, S., Ponners, P. J., Bartlett, C., Parker, A., & Star, R. (2020). Differentiating instruction: For middle school students in virtual learning environments. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, 86(3), 19–31. <u>https://www.proquest.com/scholarlyjournals/differentiating-instruction-middle-school/docview/2457214430/se-2?accountid=14793</u>
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*, 42(2), 139–160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7</u>
- Audio to Text Automatic Transcription Service & App / temi.com. (n.d.). Temi. https://www.temi.com/
- Aung, K. T., Razak, R. A., & Nazry, N. N. M. (2021). Establishing validity and reliability of semi-structured interview questionnaire in developing risk communication module: A pilot study. *Edunesia: Jurnal Ilmiah Pendidikan*, 2(3), 600–606. https://doi.org/10.51276/edu.v2i3.177
- Austin, Z., & Sutton, J. (2014). Qualitative research: Getting started. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 67(6), 436–440. https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v67i6.1406
- Baber, H. (2020). Determinants of students' perceived learning outcome and satisfaction in online learning during the pandemic of COVID-19. *Journal of Education and E-Learning Research*, 7(3), 285–292.

https://doi.org/10.20448/journal.509.2020.73.285.292

Balucanag-Bitonio, J. (2014). Research Instrumentation [SlideShare].

https://www.slideshare.net/jobitonio/research-instrumentation

- Barnes, R., Hall, R., Lowe, V., Pottinger, C., & Popham, A. (2020). Lessons from an online teacher preparation program: Flexing work experience to meet student needs and regulators' requirements in the United States. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 46(4), 528–535. https://doi.org/10.1080/02607476.2020.1802203
- Barroga, D. (2020). *#1 moving to Wyoming relocation guide for 2021*. Great Guys Moving. https://www.greatguysmoving.com/moving-to/wyoming/
- Battistin, T., Mercuriali, E., Zanardo, V., Gregori, D., Lorenzoni, G., Nasato, L., & Reffo, M. E. (2021). Distance support and online intervention to blind and visually impaired children during the pandemic COVID-19. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *108*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2020.103816</u>
- Belay, D. G. (2020). COVID-19, Distance learning and educational inequality in rural Ethiopia. *Pedagogical Research*, 5(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.29333/pr/9133</u>
- Bewick, V., Cheek, L., & Ball, J. (2003). Statistics review 8: Qualitative data–tests of association. *Critical Care*, 8(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/cc2428</u>
- Billups, F. D. (2019). Qualitative data collection tools: Design, development, and applications (Vol. 55). Sage Publications.

https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781071878699.n7

Blauser, E. (2021). *Wyoming's Special Education Funding issues*. Wyliberty. https://wyliberty.org/wyoming-s-special-education-funding-issues

Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2018). *Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end*. <u>https://us.sagepub.com/sites/default/files/upm-</u> assets/96453\_book\_item\_96453.pdf

Bloomfield, J., & Fisher, M. J. (2019). Quantitative research design. Journal of the Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses Association, 22(2), 27–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.33235/jarna.22.2.27-30</u>

Bradbury, B. L., Suarez-Sousa, X. P., Coquyt, M., Bockelmann, T. L., & Pahl, A. L. (2020). Teaching under crisis: Impact and implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on education in Minnesota. *The Interactive Journal of Global Leadership and Learning*, *1*(2), 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.55354/2692-3394.1018</u>

- Bradford, A. (2017). *Deductive Reasoning vs. Inductive Reasoning*. Livescience.Com. <u>https://www.livescience.com/21569-deduction-vs-induction.html</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, *13*(2), 201–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846</u>
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., Boulton, E., Davey, L., & McEvoy, C. (2020). The online survey as a qualitative research tool. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(6), 641–654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1805550</u>
- Bright, K. H. (2020). Perceptions of African American faculty retention practices in community college [PhD Thesis]. Walden University. <u>https://www-proquest-</u>

com.libproxy.uwyo.edu/docview/2339173037/previewPDF/846BFC219A2E43B9
PQ/1?accountid=14793

Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., & Crawford, L. M. (Eds.). (2016). *The Scholar-Practitioner's Guide to Research Design* (1st edition). Laureate Publishing.

Burrows, A., Cohen, J., Dieker, L., Foulger, T., & Wilson, C. (2020). Teacher educators' role in preparing teacher candidates in the post-COVID-19 era and beyond. *SITE Interactive Conference*, 683–685. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/218222/</u>

- Cagiltay, K., Cakir, H., Karasu, N., Islim, O. F., & Cicek, F. (2019). Use of educational technology in special education: Perceptions of teachers. *Participatory Educational Research*, 6(2), 189–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.17275/per.19.21.6.2</u>
- Caroline, N. (2017). Teachers attitude towards implementation of learner-centered methodology in science education in Kenya. *Educational Research and Reviews*, *12*(20), 996–1007. <u>https://doi.org/10.5897/ERR2017.3326</u>

Carpenter, D., & Dunn, J. (2021). We're all teachers now: Remote learning during COVID-19. *Journal of School Choice*, 1–28.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15582159.2020.1822727

Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811–831.

https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2016.2337

CDC. (2020a). *Community, work, and school*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/schools-childcare/schools.html</u>

- CDC. (2020b). COVID-19 cases, deaths, and trends in the US / CDC COVID Data Tracker. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker</u>
- CDC. (2021). *Similarities and differences between flu and COVID-19*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/symptoms/flu-vs-</u> <u>covid19.htm</u>
- Census History Staff U.S. Census Bureau. (2019). Urban and rural areas—History—U.S. Census Bureau.

https://www.census.gov/history/www/programs/geography/urban\_and\_rural\_area s.html

Chandra, Y., & Shang, L. (2019). Qualitative research: An overview. *Qualitative Research Using R: A Systematic Approach*, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3170-1\_1</u>

Chen, G. (2021). A relevant history of public education in the United States / PublicSchoolReview.com. Public School Review. <u>https://www.publicschoolreview.com/blog/a-relevant-history-of-public-education-in-the-united-states</u>

Cherry, K., & Lustik, C. (2021). *What is a case study in psychology?* [Student resources]. Verywell Mind. <u>https://www.verywellmind.com/how-to-write-a-psychology-case-</u> study-2795722

- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435. <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/1849700459?pq-</u> origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true
- Creswell, J., & Guetterman, T. (2018). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research, 6th Edition.
- Creswell, J. W., & Báez, J. C. (2020). *30 essential skills for the qualitative researcher*. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th Edition). Sage publications.
- Creswell, J. W., Hanson, W. E., Clark Plano, V. L., & Morales, A. (2007). Qualitative research designs: Selection and implementation. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 35(2), 236–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000006287390</u>
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2016). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Sage publications.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839915580941

Crouse, T., Rice, M., & Mellard, D. (2018). Learning to serve students with disabilities online: Teachers' perspectives. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, 4(2), 123– 145. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/182859/</u>

Das, M., Bhuyan, C., & Sultana, S. F. S. (2020). COVID-19 Pandemic-induced teachinglearning experiences: Some realities from Assam (India). *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change*.

https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3707078

- Davis, B. (2021). What is a basic qualitative research design? Mvorganizing.org. https://www.mvorganizing.org/what-is-a-basic-qualitative-research-design/
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Dube, B. (2020). Rural online learning in the context of COVID-19 in South Africa:
  Evoking an inclusive education approach. *Aprendizaje Rural Online En El Contexto de COVID-19 En Sudáfrica: Evocando Un Enfoque de Educación Inclusiva.*, 10(2), 135–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.17583/remie.2020.5607</u>
- Eachempati, P., & Ramnarayan, K. (2020). Ten maxims for out of class learning to outclass the academic challenges of COVID-19. *MedEdPublish*, 9(1), 89. <u>https://doi.org/10.15694/mep.2020.000089.1</u>
- Edwards, R., & Holland, J. (2020). Reviewing challenges and the future for qualitative interviewing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory & Practice*, 23(5), 581–592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1766767</u>
- Elementary and Secondary Education Act, Pub. L. No. PUBLIC LAW 89-750-NOV. 3, 1966, 1204 (1966). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/STATUTE-80-Pg1191.pdf#page=1</u>

Etikan, I., & Babtope, O. (2019). A basic approach in sampling methodology and sample size calculation. *Med Life Clin*, 1(2), 1006.
 <u>http://www.medtextpublications.com/open-access/a-basic-approach-in-sampling-methodology-and-sample-size-calculation-249.pdf</u>

 Exhange, K. M. J. H. N. V. W. N. (2018). Balow defends high per-student spending in Wyoming. Wyoming Tribune Eagle.
 <u>https://www.wyomingnews.com/news/balow-defends-high-per-student-spending-</u>

in-wyoming/article\_4a01b660-75a2-11e8-8358-0b87fadc22e8.html

Ezra, O., Cohen, A., Bronshtein, A., Gabbay, H., & Baruth, O. (2021). Equity factors during the COVID-19 pandemic: Difficulties in emergency remote teaching (ert) through online learning. *Education and Information Technologies*, 1–25.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10632-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10632-x</a>

Ferri, F., Grifoni, P., & Guzzo, T. (2020). Online learning and emergency remote teaching: Opportunities and challenges in emergency situations. *Societies*, 10(86), 86–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/soc10040086</u>

FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, *11*(2), 211–217.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014

- Frederick, J. K., Raabe, G. R., Rogers, V. R., & Pizzica, J. (2020). Advocacy, collaboration, and intervention: A model of distance special education support services amid COVID-19. *Behavior Analysis in Practice*, 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40617-020-00476-1</u>
- Gaille, L. (2019). 22 living in Wyoming pros and cons. <u>https://vittana.org/22-living-in-</u> wyoming-pros-and-cons

- Garland, S. (2020). Desperate parents need help as Coronavirus forces us into homeschooling. The Hechinger Report. <u>http://hechingerreport.org/desperate-parents-need-help-as-coronavirus-upends-our-lives/</u>
- Giovannella, C., Passarelli, M., & Persico, D. (2020). *The effects of the COVID-19* pandemic on Italian learning ecosystems: The school teachers' perspective at the steady state. https://doi.org/10.55612/s-5002-045-012
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Aldine de Gruyter. <u>http://www.sxf.uevora.pt/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2013/03/Glaser\_1967.pdf</u>
- Goes, J., & Simon, M. K. (2017). Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success: 2018 Edition: A practical guide to start and complete your dissertation, thesis, or formal research project. Dissertation Recipes LLC.
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PloS One*, *15*(5), e0232076.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076

Gupta, J., Madaan, P., & Gulati, S. (2020). COVID-19: Implications for children with special needs. *Journal for ReAttach Therapy and Developmental Diversities*, 3(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.26407/2020jrtdd.1.31

Hadjistavropoulos, T., & Smythe, W. E. (2001). Elements of Risk in Qualitative Research. *Ethics & Behavior*, 11(2), 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327019EB1102\_4

Hannes, K. (2011). Critical appraisal of qualitative research Chapter 4.

- Hennink, M. M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2020). Saturation in qualitative research. SAGE Publications Limited.
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Weber, M. B. (2019). What influences saturation?
  Estimating sample sizes in focus group research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(10), 1483–1496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318821692</u>
- Heotis, E. (2020). Phenomenological research methods: Extensions of Husserl and Heidegger. Int J Sch Cogn Psychol, 7, 221. <u>https://www.longdom.org/open-access/phenomenological-research-methods-extensions-of-husserl-and-heidegger.pdf</u>
- Hill, F. (2020). The pandemic is a crisis for students with special needs. The Atlantic. <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2020/04/special-education-goes-remote-covid-19-pandemic/610231/</u>
- History.com Editors. (2021). Brown v. Board of Education. HISTORY. https://www.history.com/topics/black-history/brown-v-board-of-education-oftopeka
- Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T., & Bond, A. (2020). The difference between emergency remote teaching and online learning. *Educause Review*, 27, 1–12.
   <u>https://er.educause.edu/articles/2020/3/the-difference-between-emergency-</u> remote-teaching-and-online-learning
- Hygnstrom, S. E. (2020). Pilot studies keep me flying high. *Proceedings of the Vertebrate Pest Conference*, 29(29). <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0t0912nm</u>

 IDEA (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act). (2019). IDEA (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act) Subchapter III (Part C) Section 1432 (4) [Section 1432 [4]]. Individuals with Disabilities Education Act.

https://sites.ed.gov/idea/statute-chapter-33/subchapter-iii/1432/4

IDEA Section 618 Data Products: State Level Datafiles. (2021). [Datasets - Child Count and Educational Environments]. IDEA Section 618 Data Products: State Level Data Files; US Department of Education (ED).

https://www2.ed.gov/programs/osepidea/618-data/state-level-data-

files/index.html

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Sec. 300 § 30 (a). (n.d.).

https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/a/300.30/a

- Jaakkola, E. (2020). Designing conceptual articles: Four approaches. *AMS Review*, *10*(1), 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13162-020-00161-0
- Jacob, E. (1987). Qualitative research traditions: A review. *Review of Educational Research*, 57(1), 1–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543057001001</u>
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2015). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 17, 6. <u>ttps://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2012.1718</u>
- Jameson, J. M., Stegenga, S. M., Ryan, J., & Green, A. (2020). Free appropriate public education in the time of COVID-19. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 39(4), 181–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/8756870520959659</u>

- Jameson, J. M., Walker, R. M., Farrell, M., Ryan, J., Conradi, L. A., & McDonnell, J. (2019). The Impact of federal personnel preparation grants on special education teacher candidate recruitment for rural and remote alternative teaching pathways. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, *38*(4), 201–209. https://doi.org/10.1177/8756870519860514\_
- Jansen, D., & Warren, K. (2020). What Is Research Methodology? Simple Definition (With Examples). *Grad Coach*. <u>https://gradcoach.com/what-is-research-</u> methodology/
- Jeste, S., Hyde, C., Distefano, C., Halladay, A., Ray, S., Porath, M., Wilson, R. B., & Thurm, A. (2020). Changes in access to educational and healthcare services for individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities during COVID-19 restrictions. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 64(11), 825–833. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12776</u>
- Justis, N., Litts, B. K., Reina, L., & Rhodes, S. (2020). Cultivating staff culture online: How Edith Bowen Laboratory School responded to COVID-19. *Information and Learning Sciences*, 121(5/6), 453–460. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ILS-04-2020-0136</u>
- Kaden, U. (2020). COVID-19 school closure-related changes to the professional life of a K–12 teacher. *Education Sciences*, *10*(6), 165.

https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10060165

Kamenetz, A. (2020). Families Of Children With Special Needs Are Suing In Several States. Here's Why. *NPR*. <u>https://www.npr.org/2020/07/23/893450709/families-of-children-with-special-needs-are-suing-in-several-states-heres-why</u>

- Karademir, A., Yaman, F., & Saatçioğlu, Ö. (2020). Challenges of higher education institutions against COVID-19: The case of Turkey. *Journal of Pedagogical Research.* 4(4), 453-475. <u>https://doi.org/10.33902/jpr.2020063574</u>
- Keenan, K. F., Van Teijlingen, E., & Pitchforth, E. (2005). The analysis of qualitative research data in family planning and reproductive health care. *BMJ Sexual & Reproductive Health*, 31(1), 40–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1783/000000052972825</u>
- Khalil, R., Mansour, A. E., Fadda, W. A., Almisnid, K., Aldamegh, M., Al-Nafeesah, A., Alkhalifah, A., & Al-Wutayd, O. (2020). The sudden transition to synchronized online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Saudi Arabia: A qualitative study exploring medical students' perspectives. *BMC Medical Education*, 20(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02208-z
- Kilty, T. J., Burrows, A. C., Christoffersen, D., Kilty, K. T., Welsh, K. M., McBride, S., Bergmaier, P., Bitzas, C., Rainey, C., & Edirisingha, P. (2021). Instructional planning modifications to meet social distancing requirements: Secondary and post-secondary options. *Education Sciences*, *11*(5), 217.

https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11050217

Kim, L. E., & Asbury, K. (2020). 'Like a rug had been pulled from under you': The impact of COVID-19 on teachers in England during the first six weeks of the UK lockdown. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(4), 1062–1083. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12381 Kinard, W., & Mahaffey, F. D. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 remote teaching on technology use and emotional needs of teachers.

https://www.widadkinard.com/s/Effects-of-COVID-Remote-Teaching.pdf

- Koerner, M. (2020). At the heart of a teacher: Schooling in a pandemic. Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies in Education, 9(1), 172–174. https://doi.org/10.32674/jise.v9i1.2371
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
  4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),
  120–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092</u>
- Kross, J., & Giust, A. (2019). Elements of Research Questions in Relation to Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 24–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3426</u>
- Kudelska, K. (2021). A small Wyoming town has attracted families looking for in-person special education [All Things Considered]. NPR.Org. <u>https://www.npr.org/2021/04/12/986537187/a-small-wyoming-town-has-</u> <u>attracted-families-looking-for-in-person-special-educat</u>
- Lambert, D. C., & Dryer, R. (2018). Quality of life of higher education students with learning disability studying online. *International Journal of Disability, Development & Education*, 65(4), 393–407.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2017.1410876

- Lancaster, G. A., & Thabane, L. (2019). *Guidelines for reporting non-randomized pilot and feasibility studies*. BioMed Central. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-019-</u> 0499-1
- Laramie County School District 1. (2019). COVID-19 Resources—Laramie County School District 1. <u>https://www.laramie1.org/en-US/com-rel-6a26e0ca/covid-19-</u> resources-8c706030
- Lassoued, Z., Alhendawi, M., & Bashitialshaaer, R. (2020). An exploratory study of the obstacles for achieving quality in distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Education Sciences*, *10*(232), 232–232.

https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10090232

- Lemay, D. J., Doleck, T., & Bazelais, P. (2021). Transition to online teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2021.1871633</u>
- Lisa, A. (2020). *History of the American education system*. Stacker. <u>https://stacker.com/stories/5541/history-american-education-system</u>
- Lodico, M. G., Spaulding, D. T., & Voegtle, K. H. (2010). Methods in educational research: From theory to practice (Vol. 28). John Wiley & Sons. <u>http://golshanlc.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Methods-in-Educational-Research.pdf</u>
- Lovitz, M., Kilbride, T., Turner, M., & Strunk, K. O. (2020). *How did Michigan school districts plan to educate students during COVID-19? An analysis of district*
Continuity of Learning plans. <u>https://epicedpolicy.org/how-did-michigan-school-</u> districts-plan-to-educate-students-during-covid-19/

- Macy, M., Macy, R., & Shaw, M. E. (2018). Bringing the ivory tower into students' homes: Promoting accessibility in online courses. *Ubiquitous Learning: An International Journal*, 11(1), 13–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.18848/1835-9795/CGP/v11i01/13-21</u>
- Maher, J. (2020). Closing schools saved lives during the Spanish Flu. Can it work for Coronavirus? *Education Week*. <u>https://www.edweek.org/leadership/closing-</u> <u>schools-saved-lives-during-the-spanish-flu-can-it-work-for-coronavirus/2020/03</u>
- Maietta, R., Mihas, P., Swartout, K., Petruzzelli, J., & Hamilton, A. B. (2021). Sort and sift, think and shift: Let the data be your guide an applied approach to working with, learning from, and privileging qualitative data. *Qualitative Report*, 26(6). <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.5013">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.5013</a>
- Malmqvist, J., Hellberg, K., Möllaas, G., Rose, R., & Shevlin, M. (2019). Conducting the pilot study: A neglected part of the research process? Methodological findings supporting the importance of piloting in qualitative research studies. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *18*, 1–11.

https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1177/1609406919878341

Maxwell, J. A. (2012). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach*. Sage publications. <u>https://www.amazon.com/Qualitative-Research-Design-Interactive-Approach/dp/1412981190</u>

- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149</u>
- Melinda. (2020). Nonverbal communication and body language—HelpGuide.org. *Https://Www.Helpguide.Org.* <u>https://www.helpguide.org/articles/relationships-</u> <u>communication/nonverbal-communication.htm</u>
- Mellard, D. F., Rice, M. F., Ortiz, K. R., & Curry, T. M. (2020). Strategic accommodation framework for students with disabilities in online learning environments.<u>https://www.academia.edu/43101232/Strategic\_Accommodation\_Fr</u> <u>amework\_for\_Students\_with\_Disabilities\_in\_Online\_Learning\_Environments</u>
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019a). Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated. <u>http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/waldenu/detail.action?docID=5630257</u>
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019b). Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis (Second edition.). Jossey-Bass. <u>https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?</u> <u>direct=true&db=cat06423a&AN=wal.EBC5630257&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Mignone, A. (2021). The dangers of flawed methodology in research: Our patient's lives depend on us to be the knowledge brokers. *Clinical Nurse Specialist CNS*, 35(3), 109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NUR.00000000000588</u>

 Miles, D. A. (2019). Research methods and strategies: Achieving alignment: How to develop research alignment in a dissertation study".
 <a href="https://www.academia.edu/39588501/ARTICLE\_Achieving\_Alignment\_How\_to">https://www.academia.edu/39588501/ARTICLE\_Achieving\_Alignment\_How\_to</a> <a href="https://www.academia.edu/39588501/ARTICLE\_Achieving\_Alignment\_How\_to">https://www.academia.edu/39588501/ARTICLE\_Achieving\_Alignment\_How\_to</a>
 <a href="https://www.academia.edu/39588501/ARTICLE\_Achieving\_Alignment\_How\_to">https://www.academia.edu/39588501/ARTICLE\_Achieving\_Alignment\_How\_to</a>

Minkos, M. L., & Gelbar, N. W. (2020). Considerations for educators in supporting student learning in the midst of COVID-19. *Psychology in the Schools*. 58(2), 416-426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22454</u>

- Moderna U.S. Inc. (2021). Fact sheet for healthcare providers administering vaccine (vaccination providers) emergency use authorization (EUA) of the Moderna COVID-19 vaccine to prevent coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). https://www.fda.gov/media/144637/download
- Mohacsi, S. F. (2019). Special education teachers' instructional practices for high school students with developmental disabilities [Ph.D., Walden University]. In *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*.

http://search.proquest.com/pqdtlocal1005747/docview/2418583449/abstract/B91 CAE9F692E4464PQ/4

Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212–1222.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501

Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage publications.

- Mustapha, A. I. (2020). Participant Observation and the Ethics of Social Research. *Dynamics of Public Administration*, *37*(1), 30–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.5958/0976-</u> <u>0733.2020.00003.6</u>
- Nasr, N. (2020). Teachers as students: Adapting to online methods of instruction and assessment in the age of COVID-19. *Electronic Journal of Science Education*, 24(2), 168–171. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1261622.pdf</u>
- Nayak, M., & Narayan, K. A. (2019). Strengths and weakness of online surveys. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 24(5), 31–38. <u>https://www.iosrjournals.org/iosr-jhss/papers/Vol.%2024%20Issue5/Series-5/E2405053138.pdf</u>
- NBC News. (n.d.). What COVID-19 school closures mean for families with special needs kids / Think / NBC News. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vZF4bSwN99M</u>
- Nguyen, H., Ahn, J., Belgrave, A., Lee, J., Cawelti, L., Kim, H. E., Prado, Y., Santagata, R., & Villavicencio, A. (2021). Establishing trustworthiness through algorithmic approaches to qualitative research. *International Conference on Quantitative Ethnography*, 47–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-67788-6\_4</u>
- Nigar, N. (2020). Hermeneutic phenomenological narrative enquiry: A qualitative study design. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 10(1), 10–18. https://doi.org/DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/tpls.1001.02</u>
- Ning, L., Kruchen, K., & Cyr, C. (2021). Belonging and mattering in the first-year welcome experience: A comparison study before and during COVID-19. *Journal*

of College Orientation, Transition, and Retention, 28(2).

https://pubs.lib.umn.edu/index.php/jcotr/article/view/3768

OECD Education & Skills Today. (2020). *Many teachers don't use technology in the classroom often: Here's how to change that*. OECD Education and Skills Today. <u>https://oecdedutoday.com/teachers-use-technology-classroom-change/</u>

Parent., 34 CFR § 300.30. (n.d.). https://www.law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/34/300.30

Parker, S. W., Hansen, M. A., & Bernadowski, C. (2021). COVID-19 campus closures in the United States: American student perceptions of forced transition to remote learning. *Social Sciences*, 10(2), 62. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci10020062</u>

PBS News Hour & Wyoming PBS. (2020). Analysis: Why some schools stayed open during the 1918 flu pandemic. PBS NewsHour. <u>https://www.pbs.org/newshour/health/analysis-why-some-schools-stayed-open-</u> <u>during-the-1918-flu-pandemic</u>

Peixoto, A. de L. A., Vasconcelos, E. F. de, & Bentivi, D. R. C. (2020). Covid-19 and the challenges posed to organizational and work psychologists: An analysis of the experiences of psychologists in managerial positions. *Psicologia: Ciência e Profissão*, 40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-3703003244195</u>

 Peterson, L., Scharber, C., Thuesen, A., & Baskin, K. (2020). A rapid response to COVID-19: One district's pivot from technology integration to distance learning. *Information and Learning Sciences*. <u>https://doi.org/DOI 10.1108/ILS-04-2020-</u>0131

- Petretto, D. R., Masala, I., & Masala, C. (2020). Special educational needs, distance learning, inclusion and COVID-19. *Education Sciences*, 10(154), 154–154. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10060154</u>
- Pozzo, M. I., Borgobello, A., & Pierella, M. P. (2019). Using questionnaires in research on universities: Analysis of experiences from a situated perspective. *Revista* d'Innovació i Recerca En Educació, 12(2), 1.

https://doi.org/10.1344/reire2019.12.227010

Pratt, M. G., Sonenshein, S., & Feldman, M. S. (2020). Moving beyond templates: A bricolage approach to conducting trustworthy qualitative research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 1094428120927466. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.libproxy.uwyo.edu/10.1177/1094428120927466

Preston, C. (2020). 'I hate COVID-19': Kids with disabilities struggle to adjust as schools close [The Hechinger Report]. NBC News.

https://www.nbcnews.com/news/education/i-hate-covid-19-kids-disabilities-

struggle-adjust-schools-close-n1172906

Prior, S. P. (2020). COVID-19 cannot quarantine special education rights. *Exceptional Parent*, 50(5), 47–49.

https://reader.mediawiremobile.com/accessibility/issues/206098/articles/5eb3466

3a3bbc201b7822f83/reader

Rahi, S., Alnaser, F. M., & Abd Ghani, M. (2019). Designing survey research:

Recommendation for questionnaire development, calculating sample size and

selecting research paradigms. *Economic and Social Development: Book of Proceedings*, 1158–1170. <u>https://eprints.unisza.edu.my/2573/</u>

- REL Regional Education Laboratory Program. (2020). Preparing students for a bright future: Individual learning plans / REL Southwest. https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/southwest/infographics/individual-learningplans.aspx
- Ricci, L., Lanfranchi, J.-B., Lemetayer, F., Rotonda, C., Guillemin, F., Coste, J., & Spitz,
  E. (2019). Qualitative methods used to generate questionnaire items: A systematic review. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(1), 149–156.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318783186

- Roldán, A. A. (2013). Malinowski and the origins of the ethnographic method. In *Fieldwork and footnotes* 157–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203426579-16</u>
- Sabino, L. (2020). *History of individualized education program | Education alternatives*. <u>https://easchools.org/2020/10/22/history-of-the-individualized-education-</u> program-iep/
- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. In *Journal of graduate medical education* 4(1), 1–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-11-00307.1</u>

Schlossberg, N. K. (1981). A model for analyzing human adaptation to transition. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 9(2), 2–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/001100008100900202

- Schlossberg, N. K. (2011). The challenge of change: The transition model and its applications. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, 48(4), 159-162.
  <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1920.2011.tb01102.x</u>
- Schlossberg, N. K., Waters, E. B., & Goodman, J. (1995). Counseling adults in transition: Linking practice with theory (2nd ed. edition). Springer Publishing Company.
- Shah, A., Gustafson, O., & Vollam, S. (2020). Pilot and feasibility studies-more than just measuring metrics. *Anaesthesia*, 75(5), 693–693.

https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.15019

- Smith, C. (2020). Challenges and opportunities for teaching students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Perspectives in Higher Education*, 5(1), 167–173. https://doi.org/10.32674/jimphe.v5i1.2619
- Soy, S. (1997). *The case study as a research method. Uses and users of information LIS* 391D. 1 Spring. <u>https://course.ccs.neu.edu/isu692/readings/1391d1b.htm</u>
- Soudien, C. (2020). Complexities of difference and their significance for managing inequality in learning: Lessons from the COVID-19 crisis. *Prospects*, 49(1), 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-020-09486-x
- Special Education Guide. (2021). Wyoming special education certification & requirements. *Special Education Guide*.

https://www.specialeducationguide.com/teacher-certification/wyoming/

SpecialEduCareers.com. (2018). *What are the Different Types of Special Education?* Special Education Careers. <u>https://specialeducareers.com/resources/blog/what-are-the-different-types-of-special-education</u>

Star-Tribune Staff. (2020). Wyoming cancellations and closures caused by Coronavirus / Wyoming News / trib.com. <u>https://trib.com/news/state-and-</u>

regional/health/wyoming-cancellations-and-closures-caused-by-

coronavirus/article\_228b1e3a-56b6-5e09-a351-3bcb8825e7f3.html

State of Wyoming. (2020). *State of Wyoming statewide order #1 (Closures) 23rd Continuation.pdf.* Google Docs.

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1O23RHYHP8i00Mp573dblqo4E8KJlyWsb/view? usp=sharing&usp=embed\_facebook

State of Wyoming Regulations. (n.d.). Chapter 8 Rules. From

http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:GHduzmgXQtUJ:edu.wy oming.gov/downloads/communications/2018/Ch8Clean.pdf+&cd=2&hl=en&ct=c lnk&gl=us

Strudwick, R. M. (2020). Ethnographic research in healthcare–patients and service users as participants. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 1–5.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2020.1741695

Study Higher. (2020). Importance of Your Research Question.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1jeol22yrHE

Teachers College, Columbia University. (n.d.). Research Instrument Examples

[PowerPoint slides]. Teachers College, Columbia University.

https://www.tc.columbia.edu/media/administration/institutional-review-board-/guide-amp-resources---documents/Published\_Study-Material-Examples.pdf

- Teaching Special Education. (n.d.). From <u>https://teach.com/careers/become-a-</u> <u>teacher/what-can-i-teach/special-education/</u>
- Terada, Y. (2020). COVID-19's impact on students' academic and mental well-being. Edutopia. <u>https://www.edutopia.org/article/covid-19s-impact-students-academic-and-mental-well-being</u>
- The Living Philosophy. (2021). What is Phenomenology? The Philosophy of Husserl and Heidegger. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IvA9FxsM9G8</u>
- The Supreme Court of the United States. (1954). *Our Documents—Brown v. Board of Education (1954)*. <u>https://www.ourdocuments.gov/doc.php?flash=false&doc=87</u>
- Thompson, A. K. (2017). *Concepts in quantitative sociological research*. ReviseSociology. <u>https://revisesociology.com/2017/12/28/quantitative-sociological-research-concepts/</u>
- Tremmel, P., Myers, R., Brunow, D. A., & Hott, B. L. (2020). Educating students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic: Lessons learned from Commerce Independent School District. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 39(4), 201–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/8756870520958114</u>
- Tucker, B. P. (1983). Board of Education of Hendrick Hudson Central School District v. Rowley.

- Turner, C., & Astin, F. (2021). Grounded theory: What makes a grounded theory study? *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 20(3), 285–289. https://doi.org/doi:10.1093/eurjcn/zvaa034
- Turner, C., & Klein, R. (2021). After Months Of Special Education Turmoil, Families Say Schools Owe Them. NPR. <u>https://www.npr.org/2021/06/16/994587239/after-</u> months-of-special-education-turmoil-families-say-schools-owe-them
- UNESCO. (2020). Education: From the closure of educational institutions to the resumption of their work. UNESCO.

https://ru.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse

- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (n.d.). Special Education Teachers: Occupational Outlook Handbook: : U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. https://www.bls.gov/ooh/education-training-and-library/special-educationteachers.htm#tab-2
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020a). Wyoming—May 2020 OEWS State occupational employment and wage estimates.

https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes\_wy.htm#25-0000

U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020b). *Occupational employment and wage statistics*. Occupational Employment and Wage Statistics.

https://data.bls.gov/oes/#/geoOcc/Multiple%20occupations%20for%20one%20ge ographical%20area U.S. Census Bureau. (2019). New census data show differences between urban and rural populations. The United States Census Bureau.

https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2016/cb16-210.html

U.S. Department of Education. (2019). *Guide to the Individualized Education Program* [Guides; Indexes].

https://www2.ed.gov/parents/needs/speced/iepguide/index.html#closer

- U.S. Department of Education. (2020). Education Department releases COVID-19, IDEA-related Q-and-A. *Individuals with Disabilities Education Act*. <u>https://sites.ed.gov/idea/department-releases-covid-19-idea-related-q/</u>
- U.S. Department of Education (IDEA). (2017). Sec. 300.8 Child with a disability. Individuals with Disabilities Education Act.

https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/a/300.8

- Van Nuland, S., Mandzuk, D., Tucker Petrick, K., & Cooper, T. (2020). COVID-19 and its effects on teacher education in Ontario: A complex adaptive systems perspective. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 46(4), 442–451. https://doi.org/10.1080/02607476.2020.1803050
- Wang, K. Y.-C. (2020). Information behavior of parents during COVID-19 in relation to their young school-age children's education. *The Serials Librarian*, 79(1–2), 62– 77. https://doi.org/10.1080/0361526x.2020.1806179
- Webber-Ritchey, K. J., Simonovich, S. D., & Spurlark, R. S. (2021). COVID-19:
  Qualitative research with vulnerable populations. *Nursing Science Quarterly*, 34(1), 13–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0894318420965225</u>

- White, M. G. (2020). Why human subjects research protection is important. *Ochsner Journal*, 20(1), 16–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.31486/toj.20.5012</u>
- Wolfman-Arent, A. (2020). Lawsuit says Pa. Is failing special needs kids during Coronavirus school closures. Chalkbeat Philadelphia.
   <a href="https://philadelphia.chalkbeat.org/2020/5/19/22186707/lawsuit-says-pa-is-failing-special-needs-kids-during-coronavirus-school-closures">https://philadelphia.chalkbeat.org/2020/5/19/22186707/lawsuit-says-pa-is-failing-special-needs-kids-during-coronavirus-school-closures</a>
- Workman, J. L. (2015). Exploring living learning community: Aiding undecided students' decision making or simply a residence hall option? *Learning Communities: Research & Practice*, 3(1).

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1112533.pdf

Worthington, M. (2013). Differences between phenomenological research and a basic qualitative research design.

http://a1149861.sites.myregisteredsite.com/DifferencesBetweenPhenomenologica

lResearchAndBasicQualitativeResearchDesign.pdf

Wright, C. (2019). History of education: The United States in a nutshell. <u>https://www.leaderinme.org/blog/history-of-education-the-united-states-in-a-nutshell/</u>

Wyoming Const. Article 7 § 1-2 (P. 37). (1924).

https://sos.wyo.gov/Forms/Publications/WYConstitution.pdf

Wyoming Const. § Article 21. Legislature of the State of Wyoming

https://wyoleg.gov/statutes/compress/title21.pdf

- Wyoming Const. § Article 21 -13-309(m)(v)(E)(II). Legislature of the State of Wyoming. https://wyoleg.gov/statutes/compress/title21.pdf
- Wyoming Department of Education. (n.d.). Statewide Learning Management System

(*LMS*). <u>https://edu.wyoming.gov/educators/technology/statewide-learning-</u>management-system-lms/

- Wyoming Department of Education. (2019a). COVID-19 Resources / Wyoming Department of Education. <u>https://edu.wyoming.gov/home/covid-19-resources/</u>
- Wyoming Department of Education. (2019b). Special Education Staffing Guidelines. 9.

https://wyoleg.gov/docs/SchoolFinance/SpecialEducationStaffingGuidelines.pdf

Wyoming Department of Education. (2020a). Adapted learning.

https://edu.wyoming.gov/educators/technology/distance-ed/adapted-learning/

- Wyoming Department of Education. (2020b). Guidelines for providing special education and related services during the COVID-19 Pandemic. WDE Special Education Programs Division. <u>https://lddlxtt2jowkvs672myo6z14-wpengine.netdna-</u> <u>ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/WDE-Sped-COVID-19-Guidance-04-08-</u> <u>20.pdf</u>
- Wyoming Department of Education. (2020c). Superintendent Jillian Balow's statement on school reopening plans.

https://edu.wyoming.gov/blog/2020/04/23/superintendent-jillian-balowsstatement-on-school-reopening-plans/

Wyoming Department of Education. (2021). Special education programs.

https://edu.wyoming.gov/for-district-leadership/special-programs/

Wyoming Legislature. (2015). Distance Education Task Force.

https://edu.wyoming.gov/educators/technology/task-force/

Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board. (2018a). Accrediting Bodies -

Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board.

http://wyomingptsb.com/licensure/accrediting-bodies/

Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board. (2018b). Becoming licensed -

Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board.

http://wyomingptsb.com/licensure/becoming-licensed/

Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board. (2018c). Endorsement Areas –

Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board.

http://wyomingptsb.com/licensure/endorsement-areas/

Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board. (2018d). *Exception Authorization – Wyoming Professional Teaching Standards Board*.

http://wyomingptsb.com/licensure/exception-authorization/

Wyoming Special Education Programs Division. (2020a). Questions and answers on providing services to children with disabilities during the Coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/policy/speced/guid/idea/memosdcltrs/qa-covid-19-03-12-2020.pdf</u>

Wyoming Special Education Programs Division. (2020b). Questions and answers on providing services to children with disabilities during the Coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak (March 2020). *Individuals with Disabilities Education Act*.
 <a href="https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/qa-covid-19-03-12-2020.pdf">https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/qa-covid-19-03-12-2020.pdf</a>

Yin, R. K. (1981). The case study as a serious research strategy. Knowledge, 3(1), 97-

114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/107554708100300106</u>

Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods (Vol. 5). sage.

Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations.

*Evaluation*, *19*(3), 321–332. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473915480.n48</u>

#### Appendix A: Teacher Interview Protocol Form

Participant Number: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Time started: \_\_\_\_\_ Time ended: \_\_\_\_\_ Interview conducted via: \_\_\_\_\_

Introductory Statement

Hello \_\_\_\_\_\_, thank you for volunteering to participate in my research study. I want to ensure your privacy, are you in a location where you are comfortable conducting this interview? (If yes, continue. If not, ask to reschedule the interview). As a reminder, I will be recording the interview to ensure I capture your exact words. With your permission, may I start the recording? Thank you.

## START RECORDING

I am Liz Merritt, Ph. D. student at Walden University conducting an interview with participant number \_\_\_\_\_.

I have confirmed that you met the participant requirements based on your responses to the online questionnaire. I am interviewing secondary special education teachers for my study. I understand that there were challenges to meeting IEP or ILP services when the transition from in-classroom to online learning occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic in March of 2020. I will be asking questions about your experiences and perceptions. What I am trying to understand are the events and how accommodations were done. I hope you feel comfortable providing your candid perceptions concerning your experiences and instructional adjustments to support student academic achievement. Please remember that there is no "correct" response, but I request your honest thoughts. As a reminder, your identity will remain confidential by using a pseudonym. Also, your participation is voluntary, and you may stop your participation at any time and refuse to respond to any questions that you do not wish to answer. Since this is a research study to gain your perceptions, I will not express opinions concerning what you provide. I provide you with the research questions, but I may ask follow-up or clarification questions.

Before beginning, I would like to understand more about your educational experience, the number of students you assist, and any guidance before or during the emergency transition, and professional development to assist with instructional adjustments.

(1) What subjects do you teach or co-teach?

(2) What is the average number of students in each class?

3) Can you share the school emergency plan for transitions to online learning?

4) Was there professional development provided before or during the transition of your content online?

## **Guiding Research Question**

The guiding research question is "What challenges were experienced to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities by secondary special education teachers and parents to support the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming?"

Conceptual Framework	Questions	Probes
Situation Variable	Can you describe what	What did this mean to you?
(What is happening?)	happened in March 2020?	
Self-Variable	Can you describe what	Please describe your
(To whom is it happening?)	happened to you during the	feelings and provide
	transition from in-	examples.
	classroom to online	
	learning?	
Support Variable	Can you describe what	Is there anything that stood
(What help is available?)	supports or services were	out you would like to
	provided or given during	share?
	this transition?	
Strategies Variable	Can you describe how you	Can you share what
(How does the person	felt about the transition	resources you did use?
cope?)	from in-classroom to	
	online?	

S.Q. 1 How do teachers and parents describe the transition experience from in-classroom

to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic?

**S.Q. 2** What <u>adjustments</u> were made by special education teachers and parents with the instructional supports in place when the transition from in-classroom to online learning

Conceptual Framework	Questions	Probes
Situation Variable	Can you explain the	How did those adjustments
(What is happening?)	adjustments made during	work?
	the transition from in-	
	classroom to online?	
Self-Variable	What adjustments are made	How do you see this
(To whom is it	for student IEP or ILP?	happening?
happening?)		
Support Variable	How are the adjustments	Tell me about the guidance
(What help is available?)	being done for IEP or ILP	provided?
	online?	
Strategies Variable	Can you describe how you	What challenges does this
(How does the person	believe these adjustments	create?
cope?)	worked?	

for students with disabilities occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic?

**S.Q. 3** What challenges and supports are lacking for special education teachers and parents in their transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic?

Conceptual Framework	Questions	Probes
Situation Variable	What were the challenges	Can you provide more
(What is happening?)	or lack of support during	details?
	the transition?	
Self-Variable	How did this affect the	How did this impact
(To whom is it happening?)	challenges or supports	students?
	lacking for students with	
	IEPs or ILPs?	
Support Variable	What help was available	What would you like to see
(What help is available?)	for the challenges or	moving forward?
	supports for students with	
	disabilities?	
Strategies Variable	What were you able to do	How do you see this
(How does the person	for students with	working moving forward?
cope?)	disabilities during this	
	time?	

3) Is there a school emergency plan for transitions to online learning?

4) Is there professional development provided for transitioning content online? **Concluding Statement** 

Thank you so much for participating in this interview. Your perceptions have provided me insight into special education transitions during the COVID-19 pandemic. I will email a transcript of our conversation for your review. If you have any questions about the process or results, you may reach out to me by email or phone. Do you have any additional questions for me? I appreciate the time you have taken to assist me. I will be in touch soon.

STOP RECORDING

#### Appendix B: Parent or Guardian Interview Protocol Form

Participant Number: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_\_Time ended: \_\_\_\_\_\_

Interview conducted via:

Introductory Statement

Hello \_\_\_\_\_\_, thank you for volunteering to participate in my research study. I want to ensure your privacy. Are you in a location where you are comfortable t conducting this interview? (If yes, continue. If no, ask to reschedule the interview). As a reminder, I will be recording the interview to ensure I capture your exact words. With your permission, may I start the recording? Thank you. START RECORDING

# I am Liz Merritt, Ph. D. student at Walden University conducting an interview with participant number \_\_\_\_\_\_.

I have confirmed that you met the participant requirements based on your responses to the online questionnaire. I am interviewing secondary special education parents/guardians for my study. I understand that there were challenges to meeting IEP or ILP services when the transition from in-classroom to online learning occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic in March of 2020. I will be asking questions about your experiences and perceptions. What I am trying to understand are the events and how accommodations were done. I hope you feel comfortable providing your candid perceptions concerning your experiences and instructional adjustments to support student academic achievement. Please remember that there is no "correct" response, but I request your honest thoughts. As a reminder, your identity will remain confidential by using a pseudonym. Also, your participation is voluntary, and you may stop your participation at any time and refuse to respond to any questions that you do not wish to answer. Since this is a research study to gain your perceptions, I will not express opinions concerning what you provide. I provide you with the research questions, but I may ask follow-up or clarification questions.

Before beginning, I would like to understand more about your educational experience, the number of students you assist, and any guidance for you and your family before, during, or after the emergency transition to assist with instructional adjustments. (1) Number of children in your home?

(2) Number of adults providing support for child/children with disabilities.

# **Guiding Research Question**

The guiding research question is "What challenges were experienced to meet the individualized needs of students with disabilities by secondary special education teachers and parents to support the transition from in-classroom to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Wyoming?"

**S.Q. 1** How do teachers and parents <u>describe the transition</u> experience from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic?

Situation Variable	Can you describe what happened in March 2020?	What did this mean to you?
(What is happening?) Self Variable (To whom is it happening?)	Can you describe what happened to you during the transition from in-	Please describe your feelings and provide examples.
	classroom to online learning?	
Support Variable (What help is available?)	Can you describe what supports or services were provided or given during this transition?	Is there anything that stood out you would like to share?
<i>Strategies</i> Variable (How does the person cope?)	Can you describe how you felt about the transition from in-classroom to online?	Can you share what resources you did use if any?

**S.Q. 2** What <u>adjustments</u> were made by special education teachers and parents with the instructional supports in place when the transition from in-classroom to online learning

Conceptual Framework	Questions	Probes
Situation Variable	Can you explain the	How did those adjustments
(What is happening?)	adjustments you made	work?
	during the transition from	
	in-classroom to online?	
Self-Variable	What adjustments are made	Can you provide an
(To whom is it	for your child with IEP or	example of one process
happening?)	ILP?	and how that worked?
Support Variable	How did the adjustments	How do you see this
(What help is available?)	provide for the IEP or ILP	happening?
_	online?	
Strategies Variable	Can you describe how the	What challenges does this
(How does the person	adjustments worked?	create?
cope?)	-	

for students with disabilities occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic?

**S.Q. 3** What are the challenges and supports lacking for special education teachers and parents in their transition from in-classroom to online learning for students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic?

Conceptual Framework	Questions	Probes
Situation Variable	What were the challenges	Can you provide more
(What is happening?)	or lack of support during	details?
	the transition?	
Self-Variable	What were the challenges	How did this impact your
(To whom is it happening?)	or supports lacking for	child?
	your child with IEPs or	
	ILPs?	
Support Variable	What help was available	What would you like to see
(What help is available?)	for the challenges or	moving forward?
	supports for your child	
	with disabilities?	
Strategies Variable	What were you able to do	How do you see this
(How does the person	for your child with	working moving forward?
cope?)	disabilities during this	
	time?	

3) Has your school shared information on a school plan for emergency transitions to online learning?

4) Were there additional interactions provided for transitioning your child online? **Concluding Statement** 

Thank you so much for participating in this interview. Your perceptions have provided me insight into special education transitions during the COVID-19 pandemic. I will email a transcript of our conversation for your review. If you have any questions about the process or results, you may reach out to me by email or phone. Do you have any additional questions for me? I appreciate the time you have taken to assist me. I will be in touch soon.

STOP RECORDING